

**F LIVI J** MICROBIOLOGY Reviews

FEMS Microbiology Reviews 27 (2003) 525-545

www.fems-microbiology.org

Review

# Bacterial hemoglobins and flavohemoglobins: versatile proteins and their impact on microbiology and biotechnology

Alexander D. Frey <sup>1</sup>, Pauli T. Kallio \*

Institute of Biotechnology, ETH Zürich, 8093 Zürich, Switzerland

Received 12 December 2002; received in revised form 10 March 2003; accepted 4 April 2003

First published online 17 May 2003

#### Abstract

In response to oxygen limitation or oxidative and nitrosative stress, bacteria express three kinds of hemoglobin proteins: truncated hemoglobins (tr Hbs), hemoglobins (Hbs) and flavohemoglobins (flavo Hbs). The two latter groups share a high sequence homology and structural similarity in their globin domain. Flavohemoglobin proteins contain an additional reductase domain at their C-terminus and their expression is induced in the presence of reactive nitrogen and oxygen species. Flavohemoglobins detoxify NO in an aerobic process, termed nitric oxide dioxygenase reaction, which protects the host from various noxious nitrogen compounds. Only a small number of bacteria express hemoglobin proteins and the best studied of these is from *Vitreoscilla* sp. *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin (VHb) has been expressed in various heterologous hosts under oxygen-limited conditions and has been shown to improve growth and productivity, rendering the protein interesting for biotechnology industry. The close interaction of VHb with the terminal oxidases has been shown and this interplay has been proposed to enhance respiratory activity and energy production by delivering oxygen, the ultimate result being an improvement in growth properties.

© 2003 Federation of European Microbiological Societies. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Nitrosative stress; Nitric oxide detoxification; Pathogenic bacteria; Microaerobic growth; Biotechnological application; Protein engineering

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	526
2.	Globin proteins: an overview	526
3.	Bacterial Hbs and flavoHbs	526
	3.1. Identification of Hbs and flavoHbs	526
	3.2. Intracellular localization of VHb and HMP	528
	3.3. Structure of bacterial Hbs and flavoHbs	528
	3.4. Biochemical properties of Hbs and flavoHbs	531
4.	Regulation and function of bacterial flavoHbs and Hbs	532
	4.1. VHb	532
	4.2. E. coli flavoHb HMP	534
	4.3. Regulation and function of S. enterica serovar Typhimurium flavoHb (HmpStm)	535
	4.4. Regulation and function of <i>R. eutropha</i> flavoHb (FHP)	535
	4.5. B. subtilis flavoHb (HmpBs)	535
	4.6. FlavoHbs from various bacterial species	536
5.	Hbs and flavoHbs in biotechnology	536
	5.1. Use of VHb to improve cell growth and productivity	537
	5.2. Novel globin proteins for improved performance in heterologous hosts	538
6.	Conclusions	539

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +41 (1) 633 34 46; Fax: +41 (1) 633 10 51. E-mail address: kallio@biotech.biol.ethz.ch (P.T. Kallio).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Present address: Institute of Medical Virology, University of Zürich, 8028 Zürich, Switzerland.

<sup>0168-6445/03/\$22.00 © 2003</sup> Federation of European Microbiological Societies. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/S0168-6445(03)00056-1

 Acknowledgements
 540

 References
 540

## 1. Introduction

The importance of oxygen for life relates to both its primary use as a substrate and its secondary effects on metabolism. Its use as a substrate allows cellular metabolism to work at optimal levels of substrate utilization and energy yield. Oxygen is required for the regulation of a variety of cellular functions, which are expressed in response to oxygen or to the presence of noxious byproducts that accumulate during the aerobic lifestyle. Oxygen and cognate oxygen radicals can directly or indirectly affect bacterial cells in at least two ways: altering the function of specific proteins or affecting the biosynthesis of specific sets of proteins. The latter effects are largely due to the effects of oxygen on the function of global transcription factors.

In humans, the protein molecule most closely associated with the utilization of oxygen is hemoglobin (Hb), the best-characterized oxygen-binding protein both at the functional and the molecular level. The presence of this oxygen-binding protein had long been thought to be restricted to mammals, but recent findings indicate an almost ubiquitous existence of Hbs in mammals, non-vertebrates, plants, and bacteria. This review will address the current state of knowledge concerning bacterial globin and their role in cellular metabolism.

#### 2. Globin proteins: an overview

Globins are encountered in all five kingdoms of life and are assigned to vertebrate and non-vertebrate Hb classes. The latter group includes the Hbs present in plants, fungi and protozoa. The common characteristic of all Hb proteins is their ability to reversibly bind oxygen. Although the alignment of the amino acid sequences of globins from various sources reveals a highly variable or even almost random primary amino acid sequence, two key residues are conserved among all globin proteins encountered so far: Phe at position CD1 (topological position, for nomenclature see [1]) and His at position F8. Analysis of protein structures of globins reveals a typical tertiary structure, the classical globin-fold [2]. This highly conserved structure consists of six to eight  $\alpha$ -helical segments that are connected by short intervening loops. The three-on-three helix structure forms a sandwich-like assembly and binds the heme moiety within a cavity surrounded by hydrophobic residues.

Vertebrate globins are encountered circulating in body fluids, where they deliver oxygen, or are expressed in muscle tissues (myoglobin), where they donate oxygen to the respiring cells. Very recently, two hexacoordinate Hbs have been discovered in mammals: a Hb present preferentially in the brain called neuroglobin, and an ubiquitously expressed Hb designated histoglobin or, alternatively, cytoglobin [3–5]. Neuroglobin has been suggested to protect neurons from hypoxic–ischemic injury [6]. Both proteins show less than 30% identity with either Hb or myoglobin.

Non-vertebrate globins exist in manifold variations (from monomeric to multisubunit structures) and are present in widely different anatomical sites, such as in the cytoplasm of specific tissues or freely dissolved in various body fluids. Non-vertebrate globins display a much higher variability in primary and tertiary structures, which might reflect their adaptations to specific functions compared to their vertebrate homologs (reviewed in [7]).

Over the last dozen years, monomeric single domain globins have been found in symbiont-containing leguminous and non-leguminous plants, algae and a number of prokaryotes [8–12]. Chimeric globins consisting of an N-terminal globin domain and an adjacent, C-terminal redox-active protein domain, collectively called flavohemoglobins (flavoHbs), have been discovered in bacteria, yeasts and fungi [13–16]. Truncated globins (trHbs), which display a two-on-two helix architecture, are widely distributed in bacteria, unicellular eukaryotes and plants [17–20] (reviewed in [21]). TrHbs, which have previously also been designated as 'small Hbs' or myoglobin and first discovered in 1989 in *Paramecium caudatum*, have been suggested not to originate from the ancestral Hb, but to have evolved from a different protein [17,22].

# 3. Bacterial Hbs and flavoHbs

#### 3.1. Identification of Hbs and flavoHbs

The obligate aerobic bacterium *Vitreoscilla* synthesizes a homodimeric Hb (VHb) [23]. Initially called cytochrome *o*, VHb was believed to be a soluble terminal oxidase in *Vitreoscilla* [23,24]. However, spectral, kinetic and structural properties proved the Hb character of this protein [8,24,25]. VHb is the best-characterized member of the group of bacterial Hb proteins. The *vhb* gene has been isolated and it encodes an oxygen-binding protein of 15.7 kDa [8,26,27]. Interestingly, when VHb was purified from *Vitreoscilla*, an NADH metHb reductase was co-purified [24,28]. Early work on VHb has been reviewed elsewhere and is therefore not described here [29].

By performing BLAST searches on finished and unfin-

Table 1 Compilation of bacterial Hb\* and flavoHb genes<sup>a</sup>

Organism	Gene	Length (bp)	Reference/accession number
Aquifex aeolicus	*	420	AE000678.1
Campylobacter jejuni NCTC11168	chb*	423	[30]; AL139079
Clostridium perfringens hyp27	Cp-hb*	435	Farrés, J. <sup>b</sup> ; AB028630
Novosphingobium aromaticivorans	*	450	NZ_AAAV01000175.1
Rhodopseudomonas palustris	*	426	NZ_AAAF01000001.1
Vitreoscilla sp.	vhb*	441	[26,27]; M30794
Azotobacter vinelandii		1182	NZ_AAAD01000087.1
Bacillus anthracis A2012		1209	NC_003995.1
Bacillus halodurans C-125	hmpBh	1236	Farrés, J. <sup>b)</sup> ; AB024563
Bacillus subtilis 168trpC2	hmpBs	1200	[37]; D78189
Burkholderia fungorum		1245	NZ_AAAC01000178.1
Burkholderia sp. TH2		1182	AB035325.1
Corynebacterium glutamicum ATCC 13032		1161	NC_003450.2
Deinococcus radiodurans	hmpDr	1212	[30]; AE001863
Erwinia chrysanthemi	hmpX	1188	[158]; X75893
Escherichia coli MG1655	hmp	1191	[34]; X58872
Magnetospirillum magnetotacticum		1242	NZ_AAAP01001552.1
Nostoc punctiforme		1320	NZ_AABC01000078.1
Oceanobacillus iheyensis		1221	NC_004193.1
Pseudomonas fluorescens		1182	NZ_AABA01000076.1
Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO1	hmpPa	1182	[30]; AE004695
Ralstonia eutropha	fhp	1212	[33]
Ralstonia metallidurans		1290	NZ_AAAI01000369.1
Ralstonia solanacearum		1206	NC_003295.1
Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi	hmpSt	1191	[30]; AL627275
Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium	hmpStm	1191	[35]; AF020388
Shigella flexneri 2a str. 301		1191	NC_004337.1
Sinorhizobium meliloti	hmpSm	1212	Farrés, J. <sup>b)</sup> ; NC_003037
Staphylococcus aureus N315		1146	AP003129.2
Staphylococcus aureus subsp. aureus MW2		1146	NC_003923.1
Staphylococcus. aureus MU50		1146	NC_002758.1
Streptomyces coelicolor A3	hmpA2	1212	Farrés, J. <sup>b)</sup> ; AL354616.1
Streptomyces coelicolor A3	hmpA	1197	Farrés, J. <sup>b)</sup> ; AL158061
Streptomyces coelicolor A3 cosmid J11		1308	AL109949.1
Thermobifida fusca		1281	NZ_AAAQ01000041.1
Vibrio cholerae		1185	AE004358.1
Vibrio parahämolyticus		1185	U09005.1
Xylella fastidiosa 9a5c		1194	AE003859.1NC_002488.1
Yersinia pestis OC92		1191	AJ414154.1

<sup>a</sup>The deposited genome data can be accessed at http://www.ncbi.nih.gov. Hb-encoding genes and putative Hb sequences are marked with an asterisk \*. <sup>b</sup>Personal communication.

ished bacterial genomes using VHb as query sequence, further bacterial Hb proteins can be readily identified (Table 1). We have isolated the Hb coding genes from *Campylobacter jejuni* (CHb) and *Clostridium perfringens* in our laboratory and the latter is being characterized currently [30] (Farrés, J., personal communication). CHb has been analyzed experimentally for its potential use in improving growth under oxygen limitation or protection from nitrosative and oxidative stress [30,31].

The strictly respiratory, denitrifying bacterium *Ralstonia* eutropha (formerly *Alcaligenes eutrophus*) synthesizes an alternative form of bacterial globin: a flavoHb termed FHP [13]. The coding sequence for this protein is located on a plasmid [32]. The *fhp* gene was isolated from a megaplasmid library, using FHP-specific antibodies and oligonucleotide probes based on the N-terminal polypeptide sequence of a yeast flavoHb, determined previously by Zhu and Riggs [14]. The *fhp* gene encodes a soluble monomeric polypeptide of 403 amino acids, having a molecular mass of 44 kDa [33].

The flavoHb from *Escherichia coli* (HMP) was isolated in an attempt to identify dihydropteridine reductase activities and to date it is the best-characterized member of the flavoHb protein family [34].

FlavoHbs from *Erwinia chrysanthemi*, *Bacillus subtilis*, *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* have been isolated and characterized [35– 39]. Other flavoHb proteins have recently been cloned from *Deinococcus radiodurans*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *S. enterica* serovar Typhi (Table 1) [30]. FlavoHbs typically possess a molecular mass of approximately 44 kDa.

Table 2 Binding of oxygen and nitric oxide to various Hb and flavoHb proteins

Ligand pair <sup>a</sup>	Association (mM <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	Dissociation (s <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	
02				
HMP	38	0.44	[75]	
HMP (Tyr-B10 $\rightarrow$ Phe)	50	34 (3.3) <sup>b</sup>	[74]	
VHb	78	5000	[25]	
	200	4.2 (1.5) <sup>b</sup>	[64]	
FHP	50	0.2	[75]	
NO				
HMP (Fe(II))	26	0.0002	[75]	
HMP (Fe(II)) (Tyr-B10 $\rightarrow$ Phe)	33 (2.8) <sup>b</sup>	0.0001	[74]	
FHP (Fe(II))	10–20		[75]	
HMP (Fe(III))	44	4000	[75]	
HMP (Fe(III)) (Tyr-B10 $\rightarrow$ Phe)	42 (5.2) <sup>b</sup>		[74]	
FHP (Fe(III))	2.4	1200	[75]	

<sup>a</sup>Ligand-binding pair,  $O_2$  exclusively binds to the heme in the ferrous form, whereas NO binds to the ferrous (Fe(II)) and the ferric (Fe(III)) heme iron. <sup>b</sup>Value in brackets represents slow phase in a biphasic process.

A compilation of bacteria carrying Hb and flavoHb genes is shown in Table 1. The genes have either been isolated from these microorganisms or predicted to exist due to high sequence homology to currently known proteins. The alignment of the primary amino acid sequences reveals the occurrence of several conserved residues in both the Hb domain and in the redox-active domain (Fig. 1). The role of these conserved residues is discussed below.

# 3.2. Intracellular localization of VHb and HMP

Studies on the localization of heterologously expressed VHb in *E. coli* have revealed a distribution of the protein into both the cytoplasmic and periplasmic space, with up to 30% of the active protein being found in the latter [40]. The export of VHb into the periplasm was believed to be due to the presence of a 16-amino-acid-long sequence at the N-terminus of VHb that could direct the protein into the periplasm [40].

Analysis of the amino acid sequence revealed several unusual features not typically found in bacterial signal sequences. Instead of having positively charged residues at its amino terminus, it has a negative charge. The overall hydrophobicity of the central region of this putative signal sequence is significantly lower than that found in typical leader peptides due to the presence of charged residues not cleaved during or after the translocation process (since the region is an intrinsic part of the Hb protein) [40,41]. Fusions of the N-terminal sequence of VHb (16–23 amino acids) to *pho*A allowed the export of alkaline phosphatase into the periplasm of *E. coli* [40]. A similar distribution of VHb was observed in *Vitreoscilla* [40].

Recently, Webster and co-workers [42] analyzed VHb localization using electron microscopy in *Vitreoscilla* and *E. coli*. The results clearly indicate that VHb has mainly a cytoplasmic and not a periplasmic localization in both organisms. The authors suggest that the observed periplasmic localization of VHb might be due to the overexpression and extrusion of VHb and not due to active export [42]. It cannot be ruled out that the osmotic shock procedure used for the periplasmic sample preparation generated these putatively false results.

The N-terminal sequence of HMP is highly similar to that of VHb. HMP has also been found to localize into both the periplasmic and cytoplasmic spaces of *E. coli*, with approximately 30% of the total HMP amount present in the former. The distribution into cytoplasmic and periplasmic spaces was found in an HMP overproducing strain as well as in a strain bearing only a single chromosomal copy of *hmp*. In contrast to VHb, spectral analysis revealed that biochemically active HMP is exclusively found in the cytoplasmic fraction [43].

#### 3.3. Structure of bacterial Hbs and flavoHbs

#### 3.3.1. Globin domain

The three-dimensional (3D) structures of FHP, HMP and VHb have been resolved by X-ray crystallography [44-48]. The Hb domains of FHP, HMP and VHb adopt the classical globin-fold [2]. The heme molecule is embedded in a hydrophobic crevice formed by helices B, C, E, F, G and H. A rigid binding between the polypeptide chain and the porphyrin ring is provided predominantly by hydrophobic side chains pointing towards the proximal site of the heme molecule. No protein-heme interactions are detected at its distal site. A clear difference of these structures, relative to mammalian Hb, is the lack of helix D. The residues connecting helices C and E do not adopt the usual  $\alpha$ -helical conformation but rather form a loop. The observed disorder in the CE region in FHP has been interpreted as a potential site of interaction between the globin domain and the FAD module of its reductase domain [45]. By analogy, this would provide a potential contact site for VHb with the NADH metHb reductase. [47,49]. A striking difference between VHb and HMP on

			B10	CD1	E7 E11		
FHP HmpEc HmpStm HmpSt HmpDx hmpBs HmpDr HmpPa CHb CP-Hb VHb	MLTQKTKDIVK MLDAQTIATVK MLDAQTIATVK MLDQQTIATIK MLDQKTIATIK MLTPEQKAIVK MLTPEQKAIVK MTKEQIQIIK MLDQKTIDIIK MLDQQTINIIK	ATAPVLAEHGYDII ATIPLLVETGPKLT ATIPLLVETGPKLT ATIPLLVETGPKLT STIPLLAETGPALT STIPVLAEGPALT ATVPALEAHGETIT ATVPLLETGGEALI DCVPILLQKNGEDLT STVPVLKENGLEIT ATVPVLKEHGVTIT	KCFYQRMFEAHPELK-1 AHFYDRMFTHNPELK-1 AHFYDRMFTHNPELK-1 AHFYQRMFTHNPELK-1 GRFYDRMFQDHPELL-1 RFFYARMFQDHPELL-1 THFYRTMLGEYPEVR-1 THFYKNLFACHPEVR-1 TTFYKNLFACHPEVR-1	VVFNMAHQEQ EIFNMSNQRN EIFNMSNQRN DIFNMSNQRN VIFNQTNQKK VIFNQAHQAS PMFNMEKQIS PLFNMNKQES PLFDMGRQES	GOQOQALARAVYAY GDQREALFNAIAAY GDQREALFNAIAAY GDQREALFNAIAAY KTQRTALANAVIAA GDQREALFNAICAY GDQPRALANSVLAY GDQPRALANSVLAY GEQPKALAMAILAX LEQPKALAMAILAX	AENIEDPNSLM ASNIENLPALL ASNIENLPALL ASNIENLPALL ATHIENLPALL AANIDQLGNII AAHIDHPEALG ARHIDQLQELG AKNIENLENMR AQNIDNLEAIK AQNIENLPAIL	75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75
	F7 F8	G5			H23		
FHP HmpEc HmpSt HmpSt HmpDx hmpBs HmpDr HmpPa CHb Cp-Hb VHb	AVLKNIANKHASI PAVEKIAQKHTSF PAVEKIAQKHTSF PAVEKIAQKHTSF PVVKQIGHKHAST GWVKQIGHKHKSI PLVAKVVNKHVSI SFVDKVAITHVNI PVVNRIGVIHCNA PAVKKIAVKHCQA	GVKPEQYPIVGEHL QIKPEQYNIVGTHL QIKPEQYNIVGTHL QIKPEQYNIVGTHL MIQPEQYQIVGTHL GIKPEHYPIVGQVI GVKEEHYPIVGQVI GVKEEHYPIVGQVI GVAAAHYPIVGQEL	LAAIKEVLGN-AATDD LATLDEMFSPGQEY LATLDEMFNPGQEY LATLDEMFNPGQEY LATLEEMFQPGQAY LIAIKDVLGD-AATPD LGAIASVLGD-AATPD LKAIKNLLNPDEAY LKAIKNLLNPDEAY LGAIKEVLGD-GATED LGAIKEVLGD-AATDD	IISAWAQAYG VLDAWGKAYG VLDAWGKAYG VLDAWGKAYG INDAWGKAYG IMQAWEKAYG ILDAWAAAYG VLEAWGAAYQ PLKAWEVAYG IINAWAKTYG ILDAWGKAYG	NLADVLMGMESELY VLANVFINREAEIY VLANVFIRREAEIY VLANVFIRREAEIY VLANVFIGRESDIY VLADAFIGIEKCMY QLADLLIEAESCMY KIAKFYIDIEKKLY VIAEVFINNEKEMY VIAEVFINNEKEMY	ERSAEQPGGWK NENASKDGGWE HENASKDGGWE QQSAGQNGGWH EQAEEQAGGWK DAGAGQPGGWR AASAQADGGWR DK ASR AQAVE	152 150 150 150 152 152 153 140 144 146
				FHP: 206	5-209		
FHP HmpEc HmpStm HmpSt HmpX hmpBs HmpDr HmpPa	GWRTFVIREKRPESD GTRDFRIVAKTPRSA GTRPFRIVAKTPRSA GTRPFRIVAKTPRSA GIRPFRIVAKTPRSS EYKPFVIAKKARSS GVRFVIAKKASSE GVRFRVARKVASSE	VITSFILEPADGGF LITSFELEPVDGGA LITSFEFEPVDGGT LITSFFEPVDGGF LITSFTLEPVDGGF EITSFVLEPVDGGF EITSFVLEPVDGQF	VVNFEPGQYTSVAIDVI VAEYRPGQYLGVULKPI VAEYRPGQYLGVULKPI VAEYRPGQYLGVULKPI IAAFRPGQYLGVULKPI LPAFQPGQYISLKVRII LPAYQPGQYISLKKVII LLAFQPGQYIGLRLDII	HMP: 204 PALGLQQIRQ EGFPHQEIRQ EGFAHQVFRQ EGFAHQVFRQ EGFAHQEIRQ KRFEYQEIRQ PDSEYTHIRQ PQGERWQIRQ DGEEVRRN	-207 YSLSDAPNGRTYRI YSLTRKPDGKGYRI YSLTRKPDGKGYRI YSLTRKPDGKGYRI YSLSDMGKDYYRI YSLSDM9GKDYYRI YSLSDAPSPDHYRI YSLSAASNGREYRI	SVKREGG-G-P AVKREEG AVKREDG AVKREDG AVKRETM SVKKD SVKREGG SVKREAG	230 226 226 226 226 226 228 228 227
FHP HmpEc HmpStm HmpSt HmpX hmpBs HmpDr HmpPa	QPPGYVSNLLHDHVN GQVSNWLHNHAN GQVSNWLHNHAS GQVSNWLHHHAS GSVSGYLHDVAR GVSSYLHDGLG GLVSEYLHGAVQ GRVSNYLHDRVA	VGDQVKLAAPYGSF VGDVVKLVAPAGDF VGDVVHLAAPAGDF VGDVVHLAAPAGDF EGDVIELAAPAGDF EGDSIEISAPAGDF EGDELLVHVPAGDF EGDELLLPPPAGDF	HIDVDAKTPIVLISGG FMAVADDTPVTLISAG FMNVAADTPVSLISAG FMNVAADTPVSLISAG YLEVTPETPVALISAG VLDVASQKDLVLISAG VLDQ-SERPVVLISAG VLRD-SDKPLVLITAG	JGLTPMVSML JGQTPMLAML JGQTPMLAML JGQTPMLAML JGQTPMLSML JGITPMISML JGITPMLAMV JGITPALAML	K-VALQAPPRQVVF DTLAKAGHTAQVNW DTLAKEQHTAQVNW DTLAKEQHTAQVNW HSLKNQQHQADIFW KTSVSKQPERQILF QTLAQAGSQRPVTF QEALPQARPIRF	VHGARNSAVHA FHAAENGDVHA FHAAENGDVHA LHAAENTEVHA IHAAKNSEYHA IHAAQNGSVHA IHCARHGGVHA	309 303 303 303 303 303 304 301
FHP HmpEc HmpStm HmpSt HmpDs HmpDr HmpDr HmpPa	MRDRLREAAKTYENI FADEVKELGOSLPRF FADEVSELGRTLPRF FADEVSELGRTLPRF FADEIADVAATLPQI LRHEVEEAAKHS-AV FRDDVARLTHEYPHF FRDDVIEDVSAQHEQV	DLFVFYDQPL-PED TAHTWYRQPS-EAD TAHTWYREPT-EAD QSYVWYREASSEAA KTAFVYREPT-EED RKVVFYDEAG-PDD EHFFCYSEP	VQGRDYDYPGLVDVKQ: RAKGQPDSEGLMDLSKI RAQRLFDSEGLMDLSKI RAQRVFDSEGLMDLSKI RAGNVFDSEGLMDLSKI RSAHAFH-GLMALKDI RAGDLHFHEQQIDQQFT QLGTHHDVAGRLSLDA RAGDSADAEGLLSREKI	IEKSILLP-D LEGAFSDP-T LEAAISDP-A LEAAISDP-A LEAAISDP-A LPTPLPMT-N LKELIANT-D JRGALPAG-E LADWLPQERD	ADYYICGPIPFMRM MQFYLCGPVGFMQF MQFYLCGPVGFMQF LHCYLCGPVGFMQF LHCYLCGPVAFMQF ADYYICGSPSFITA AEFYYCGPAGFAGA LDAYFLGPRPFMAQ	QHDALKNLGIH TAKQLVDLGVK AAKQLVSLGVN AAKQLVSLGVN AARQLLELGIT MHKLVSELGSA VEAILDDLQVP VKRHLADLGVP	387 381 381 380 380 380 382 376
FHP HmpEc HmpStm HmpX hmpMs HmpDr HmpDr HmpPa	FHP: 394 HMP: 388 EARIHYEVFGPDLFA QENIHYECFGPHKVI NENIHYECFGPHKVI NENIHYECFGPHKVI ESQIHYECFGPHKVI PESIHYELFGPQLSI AERRFTEFGPSQF SQQCHYEFFGPAAAL	E 403 396 396 395 Apv- 399 APVILG 403 DA 393					

Fig. 1. Multiple amino acid alignment of flavoHbs and Hbs, which have recently been studied. VHb (*Vitreoscilla* [26,27]), HmpEc (*E. coli*, also called HMP [34]), FHP (*R. eutropha* [33]), HmpX (*E. chrysanthemi* [38]), HmpBs (*B. subtilis* [37]), HmpStm (*Salmonella* serovar Typhimurium [35,36]), CHb, HmpPa, HmpDr and HmpSt (*C. jejuni, P. aeruginosa, D. radiodurans, Salmonella* serovar *typhi* [30]) and Cp-Hb (*C. perfringens* (Farrés, J., personal communication)). Annotation of the globin domain is according to the topological positions, in the reductase domain according to the residue number. Important residues are given in bold. His-F8, Tyr-G5 and Glu-H23 form the catalytic triad at the proximal site. Tyr-B10 and Gln-E7 have been suggested to be involved in the stabilization of heme-bound dioxygen. Residues 206–209 (in FHP) and 204–207 (in HMP) are involved in FAD binding. Lys-F7, Glu (FHP: 394, HMP: 388) and Tyr (209, 207) are influencing the redox potential of the prosthetic heme and FAD groups.

one hand and the globin domain of FHP on the other hand is the displacement of helix E in FHP, opening the angle between helix E and F. The heme-binding crevice is therefore enlarged, thus providing more space at the ligand-binding site [45]. A phospholipid has been found to bind inside the hydrophobic crevice, but the function of this ligand is not known [50]. The negative charge of the phosphate group, which is positioned between the heme and the FAD group, is assumed to affect the electrochemical potential of the prosthetic groups and therefore also the electron transfer between the heme and the FAD moiety. Substitution of Ala-E14 for Tyr prevented phospholipid binding, possibly as a result of the Tyr side chain protruding into the lipid-binding site. In contrast, HMP displayed only weak affinity for phospholipids [50]. In HMP, the cavity formed by the CE loop was found to harbor an anion, such as chloride or phosphate, which might participate in modulating the heme iron ligandbinding properties [48].

A number of residues, which are invariant in all known sequences, are encountered within the globin domain (Fig. 1). Hydrophobic clusters are formed around Phe-CD1 and Trp-H7. These two clusters are essential for folding and stability. The proximal site residues His-F8, Tyr-G5 and Glu-H23 have been proposed to form a hydrogen bond network, which might modulate the redox properties of the heme-iron atom [45]. Indeed, as proposed, the structural rearrangements at the proximal site relative to the classical globin-fold resemble the catalytic triad observed in cytochrome c peroxidase and are a strong support for a physiologically different role of flavoHb than pure oxygen storage and delivery [45,51]. Interpreting Raman spectroscopy data, it has been suggested that the imidazole ring of the proximal His-F8 possesses an imidazolate character due to a strong hydrogen bond to Glu-H23. This proximal hydrogen-bonding interaction in HMP provides a strong electronic push for the activation of the heme-bound oxygen [52]. Furthermore, infrared spectra of CO adducts of HMP and also VHb display an absorption maximum around 1960 cm<sup>-1</sup>, which is similar to data obtained from cytochrome CO adducts and different from CO adducts of myoglobins [53,54].

Interestingly, Tyr-B10 and Gln-E7, previously suggested to be involved in heme ligand stabilization, were found to be shifted away from the heme in unliganded ferric HMP. Instead, the Leu-E11 side chain, protruding into the distal site, prevents interaction of Tyr-B10 with the heme ligand. Previously, the occurrence of two distinct forms of the distal heme pocket has been proposed: an open conformation without hydrogen bonding and a closed structure with strong hydrogen-bonding interactions between ligand and Tyr-B10 [52]. The resolution of the X-ray structure of HMP allowed Ilari et al. [48] to modify the above model and they proposed that a ligand-binding-induced displacement of the Leu-E11 side chain enables approaching and contacting between the heme ligand and the hydroxyl group of Tyr-B10 [48]. A similar conformational change of Leu-E11 was considered necessary for azide and thiocyanate binding to ferric VHb, as such a conformational change was clearly required to make the sixth iron-coordination position accessible for ligand binding [47,55]. Furthermore, Gln-E7 was not found to stabilize ironbound ligands through hydrogen bonding in VHb [47]. The latter finding has been confirmed by analysis of ligand-binding properties of a VHb mutant where Gln-E7 had been replaced by Leu [56].

Whereas for VHb the occurrence of a dimeric form is well established, Stevanin et al. recently proposed that, due to the observed cooperativity in cyanide binding, HMP might also exist as a dimer in vivo [57]. The quaternary assembly of homodimeric VHb, which has not been observed before within the globin family, is based on a molecular interface defined by helices F and H of both subunits and essentially involves Van der Waals contacts among the two subunits. The two heme-iron atoms approach each other to a distance of 34 Å [47].

#### 3.3.2. Reductase domain

In contrast to the classical globins, flavoHbs contain a C-terminal redox-active domain with binding sites for NAD(P)H and FAD. The reductase domain belongs to the ferredoxin NADP<sup>+</sup> reductase-like protein family [58]. The reductase domain can be subdivided into two structurally and functionally independent domains: a FADbinding domain (residues 153-258 in FHP, 151-251 in HMP) and an NAD(P)H-binding domain (residues 266-403 in FHP, 259-396 in HMP). The former consists of a six-stranded antiparallel *β*-barrel, whereas the latter is built up of a five-stranded parallel  $\beta$ -sheet, flanked by two N-terminal helices and one C-terminal helix, respectively. The FAD group non-covalently contacts all three domains of FHP. Heme and FAD molecules approach each other to a minimal distance of 6.3 A (FHP) and 5.9 Å (HMP), respectively, enabling electron transfer from FAD to the heme moiety in a predominantly polar environment, provided by several amino acid side chains [45,48]. The relative spatial orientation of the NAD(P)Hbinding domain is changed, i.e. in HMP it is rotated clockwise compared to FHP. This produces a large interdomain cleft in HMP [48]. However, it is known that the relative spatial arrangement of FAD- and NAD(P)H-binding domains within members of the ferredoxin NADP+ reductase-like protein family allows variance without disturbing the function [58].

Several residues are highly conserved in the reductase domain of flavoHbs (Fig. 1). Tyr (FHP: 208, HMP: 206) contacts Lys-F7, Glu (FHP: 394, HMP: 388) and the isoalloxazine ring of FAD; Gln (FHP: 207, HMP: 205) stabilizes a water molecule that bridges FAD and the heme moiety. Arg (FHP: 206, HMP: 204), Tyr (FHP: 208, HMP: 206) and Ser (FHP: 209, HMP: 207) contact the FMN moiety. In the NAD-binding domain, Glu (FHP: 394, HMP: 388) is highly conserved and its side chain contacts Lys-F7, forming a salt bridge. Lys-F7 and Glu (FHP: 394, HMP: 388) are part of a number of polar residues, whose predominantly large side chains originate from all three domains. These residues may influence the electrochemical potential of the prosthetic heme and FAD groups [45], and are considered to be essential for transport of electrons from FAD to the heme iron.

Lys-F7 is conserved in VHb, but is replaced by Thr and Ile in the Hb from *C. jejuni* and *C. perfringens*, respectively. The absence of the charged residue in the Hb from *C. jejuni* and *C. perfringens* might therefore prevent electron transfer from an external reductase, such as the metHb reductase present in *Vitreoscilla*, to the heme moiety as proposed for VHb [30].

#### Overall reaction:

$$NO + O_2 + NAD(P)H \longrightarrow NO_3^- + NAD(P)^-$$

Reaction proceeding at heme:

$$Fe^{+2}-O-O + N=O \longrightarrow [Fe^{+3}-OONO^{-}] \longrightarrow Fe^{+3} + NO_{3}^{-1}$$

Fig. 2. The reaction mechanism of the HMP-catalyzed NOD reaction as outlined by Gardner et al. [167]. The reaction has been suggested to proceed via a heme-bound peroxynitrite [52].

#### 3.4. Biochemical properties of Hbs and flavoHbs

Hbs are generally associated with oxygen binding and transport. Indeed, bacterial Hbs and flavoHbs are able to reversibly bind molecular oxygen. However, their structural properties (i.e. the occurrence of an intramolecular redox domain in flavoHb and the presence of the catalytic triad at the distal heme site in both Hb and flavoHb) may bring into question the role of bacterial Hb and flavoHb in simple oxygen storage and delivery.

#### 3.4.1. Ligand binding

Bacterial Hb and flavoHb bind various heme ligands, such as  $O_2$ , CO, NO and CN<sup>-</sup>. The observed absorption spectra are characteristic of Hb proteins [8,59–63]. Whereas oxygen and CO bind only to the ferrous heme, NO binds to ferrous and ferric heme, although the affinity for NO is strongly dependent on the oxidation state of the heme. Upon aerobic incubation of ferric HMP with NAD(P)H it is reduced to the oxygenated ferrous state. This oxy complex is not stable and, upon exhaustion of NADH with residual oxygen, decays into a form in which heme and flavin are oxidized. The reversibility of oxygen binding and the rapid reassociation kinetics after photodissociation confirm the globin-like features of HMP [62]. Addition of dithionite and nitrite to the ferric protein results in the formation of a nitrosyl complex [62,63].

#### 3.4.2. Reaction kinetics of Hb and flavoHb

An overview of ligand binding kinetics and affinities of Hb and flavoHb is given in Table 2. For VHb two different values for oxygen release have been published. Orii and Webster reported a very fast release of oxygen from VHb ( $k_{off} = 5600 \text{ s}^{-1}$ ), a value which is several folds higher than the rate of any other known Hb [25]. Recent data indicate a more moderate rate of oxygen release from VHb (biphasic release with  $k_{off} = 4.2 \text{ s}^{-1}$  (fast phase) and 0.15  $\text{s}^{-1}$  (slow phase)) [64]. This biphasic behavior of oxygen release from VHb has been associated with conformational changes occurring in response to the breakage of hydrogen bonds between heme-bound oxygen and Tyr-B10. The  $k_{off}$  values for VHb reported by Giangiacomo et al. [64] are in good agreement with the data obtained in our laboratory (Farrés, J., personal communication).

Replacement of the distal Gln-E7 residue by His had deleterious effects on oxygen-binding properties of VHb [56]. Binding of  $O_2$  to the mutated protein is impaired (absence of a stable oxy form), suggesting that the distal His is coordinating the heme iron and transforming it to a hexacoordinated state. Interestingly, a change of Gln-E7 to Leu had little effect on oxygen-binding characteristics, indicating that the distal glutamine does not stabilize the bound oxygen with a hydrogen bond, a finding supported by the structural arrangement of the heme pocket [47,56].

#### 3.4.3. Catalytic activities of flavoHbs and Hbs

HMP can mediate electron transfer either from NADH (via FAD) to a heme-bound ligand such as oxygen (or NO) or, in the absence of a ligand, from NADH (via FAD) to an external electron acceptor [65]. In the presence of oxygen and NADH, HMP has NADH oxidase activity, which leads to the rapid consumption of NADH and to the generation of superoxide and  $H_2O_2$ , both in vitro and in vivo [66,67]. Upon exhaustion of oxygen, the oxygenated species disappears to generate the deoxy-ferrous heme, whereupon the flavin becomes reduced [68]. Various electron acceptors are reduced by HMP in vitro, including dihydropteridine, ferrisiderophores, ferric citrate, cytochrome c, and Fe(III)-hydroxamate [34,65,69,70]. However, it is unknown if these reactions are of any biological significance in vivo [34,70]. Despite the lack of a reductase domain, purified, aerobic preparations of VHb generate hydrogen peroxide in the presence of NADH and O<sub>2</sub> in a 1:1 stoichiometry [71].

# 3.4.4. Aerobic detoxification of NO by flavoHb

Gardner et al. [72] identified an inducible,  $O_2$ -dependent, cyanide-sensitive, protective enzymatic activity that is able to shield the NO-sensitive aconitase in *E. coli*. Exposure of aerobically growing cells to NO elevated this activity. Gardner et al. [72] and Hausladen et al. [73] attributed the observed NO detoxification to HMP expression, which was shown to play a central role in the inducible response to nitrosative stress. The authors stated that NO detoxification consumes  $O_2$  and NADH and converts NO and  $O_2$  in equistoichiometric amounts to nitrate, and designated the activity as nitric oxide dioxygenase (NOD) (Fig. 2).

HMP-mediated NO degradation proceeds at a rate of 94 s<sup>-1</sup> (20°C) and 240 s<sup>-1</sup> (37°C) at an oxygen concentration of 200  $\mu$ M and an NO concentration of 1  $\mu$ M [74,75]. It has been suggested that NOD activity is hampered when the ratio of NO/O<sub>2</sub> exceeds 1:100 [74]. However, no significant reduction of NO-degrading activity was observed for HMP at NO/O<sub>2</sub> ratios of 1:20 and 1:10 [31]. Mills et al. [67] considered an O<sub>2</sub> concentration of 35–100  $\mu$ M to be required for maximal oxygenase activity in vivo. Below an O<sub>2</sub> concentration of 30  $\mu$ M, the NOD activity of HMP was ineffective [67]. Substitution of Tyr-B10, a residue proposed to stabilize the Fe<sup>2+</sup>-O<sub>2</sub> complex, by Phe, Glu or His diminished the NOD activity of HMP approximately 15–35-fold.

Therefore, Hausladen et al. [76] suggested an alternative enzymatic reaction for HMP with NO: a denitrosylase activity (O<sub>2</sub> nitroxylase). They pointed out that due to the higher affinity of ferrous HMP for NO, relative to O<sub>2</sub>, and the inability to bind O<sub>2</sub> in the ferric form, HMP would preferentially bind NO at biologically relevant O<sub>2</sub> concentrations [74,76]. During steady state turnover, HMP was found in the ferric state. The formation of a heme-bound nitroxyl equivalent and its subsequent oxidation is a possible novel enzymatic function of HMP. Despite the suggested NO inhibition of HMP activity [67,74], the denitrosylase reaction proceeds at a rate (at 40  $\mu$ M NO and 10  $\mu$ M O<sub>2</sub>) which is only approximately 50% slower than the NO turnover at high O<sub>2</sub> concentrations of HMP.

The NOD activity of purified FHP was determined to be 7.4 s<sup>-1</sup> (20°C) and 120 s<sup>-1</sup> (37°C), showing that the NOD activity of FHP is more temperature dependent than that of HMP [75]. Furthermore, aerobic NO consumption in vitro (at 10  $\mu$ M NO, room temperature) with a concomitant formation of nitrate was recently reported for the flavoHbs from *P. aeruginosa* (26 s<sup>-1</sup>), *K. pneumoniae* (95 s<sup>-1</sup>), *Salmonella typhi* (76 s<sup>-1</sup>) and *B. subtilis* (68 s<sup>-1</sup>). NO turnover of HmpBs was shown to be concentration dependent (10  $\mu$ M NO: 68 s<sup>-1</sup>; 20  $\mu$ M NO: 128 s<sup>-1</sup>) [31]. Interestingly, the NO degradation by *D. radiodurans* flavoHb was not significantly different from non-enzymatic NO decay [31].

NO-degrading activity of the single domain proteins VHb and CHb was also proposed to account for the observed protective effects of these proteins against nitrosative stress [31,77]. However, in vitro NO-degrading activity of cell extracts containing either of these proteins was not significantly different from control extracts, suggesting that a membrane-linked reductase could be involved in NO detoxification in vivo [31]. The influence of the reductase domain on NO-degrading activity has therefore been analyzed more thoroughly. The truncated hemoglobin domain of FHP (FHPg)  $(3.4 \text{ s}^{-1})$  displayed a four-fold lower NO turnover rate than the native FHP (15 s<sup>-1</sup>) [31]. In contrast, engineered VHb protein, carrying an intramolecular reductase domain originating from FHP, increased

the NO turnover rate by a factor of four, thus highlighting the importance of the reductase domain for the NO-degrading activity [31].

#### 3.4.5. Anaerobic conversion of NO by HMP

Under anaerobic conditions, the reaction of NO with HMP leads to the generation of nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) with the concomitant consumption of NAD(P)H. NO binds to the active site of HMP and is reduced to the nitroxyl anion, which then reacts via a dimeric intermediate, forming N<sub>2</sub>O. This reaction proceeds at a rate of 0.14 s<sup>-1</sup> (1  $\mu$ M NO, 37°C), which is several magnitudes lower than the rate under aerobic conditions [78]. Recent results have shown a novel enzymatic activity in *E. coli* that efficiently removes NO under anoxic conditions and which was identified as a flavorubredoxin reductase [79–81]. The enzyme has been shown to have an NO turnover rate of 14.9±6.7 s<sup>-1</sup>, which is independent of the NO concentration between 1 and 10  $\mu$ M NO [81].

#### 4. Regulation and function of bacterial flavoHbs and Hbs

## 4.1. VHb

#### 4.1.1. Regulation of vhb expression

The oxygen-dependent promoter of vhb (P<sub>vhb</sub>) is induced under oxygen-limited conditions in Vitreoscilla [23]. P<sub>vhb</sub> has been characterized in E. coli, and has been shown to be functional in various heterologous hosts, such as Pseudomonas, Azotobacter, Rhizobium etli, Streptomyces sp., Serratia marcescens and Burkholderia sp. [82-88]. Pvhb is maximally induced under microaerobic conditions in both Vitreoscilla and E. coli, when the dissolved oxygen level is less than 2% of air saturation [82,89]. Activity of  $P_{vhb}$  in E. coli is positively modulated by CRP and FNR. Expression from  $P_{vhb}$  is substantially reduced in strains that are unable to synthesize CRP or cAMP. Supplementation of cAMP to a culture of a cya mutant strain increased the expression level 10-fold [82]. In contrast, a cya deletion had no effect on  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  expression [90]. A CRPbinding site has been predicted to be centered at -97[82]. Despite the influence of catabolite repression, expression of reporter enzymes from Pvhb was not different in glucose- or glycerol-containing media under carbon-limited conditions [91]. In an fnr mutant E. coli strain, the expression from P<sub>vhb</sub> was reduced two-fold under microaerobic conditions (fnr mutant: 2.5 µg CAT mg<sup>-1</sup> protein,  $fnr^+$ : 5 µg CAT mg<sup>-1</sup> protein) [92]. The location of the FNR-binding site within the promoter structure has been disputed. Tsai et al. [92] located it at a position typical for activation (around -41.5), whereas Joshi and Dikshit [93] located it around -25.5. The latter site shares only limited homology to the known E. coli (TTGATxxaxATCAAt) and non-E. coli (TTGATxxxxATCAAg) FNR consensus sequences [94]. The DNA-binding motifs of CRP (TGT- GAxxxxxTCACAxTT) and FNR are nearly identical, differing in only one base pair. It has been shown that switching of the non-congruent base pair in the half-site motifs of target promoters can result in their in vivo regulation by the corresponding non-cognate regulator [95]. Thus, it would seem possible that *E. coli* FNR and CRP are able to bind to the identical site in  $P_{vhb}$ . Furthermore, repression of  $P_{vhb}$  can be achieved by the addition of a complex nitrogen source to the medium (e.g. yeast extract). This represents a third level of regulation of  $P_{vhb}$ , whose mechanism has not yet been studied in detail [91].

In bioreactor cultivations, under conditions of maximal induction, the level of recombinant protein expressed from  $P_{vhb}$  accounted for up to 10% of total cellular protein [91]. High expression levels, as well as the manifold regulatory mechanisms, have rendered  $P_{vhb}$  extremely interesting for applications in biotechnological production processes, since the induction of promoter activity is readily achieved by lowering dissolved oxygen concentrations in bioreactors. Thus, expensive chemical inducers, such as IPTG, can be omitted.

#### 4.1.2. Biochemical function of VHb

Upon expression of VHb in *E. coli* under oxygen-limited conditions, recombinant cells grew to higher final cell densities relative to plasmid-bearing controls [89]. Further experiments showed that the effect of VHb was not restricted to growth improvements, but also resulted in enhanced protein synthesis [96]. Tsai et al. [97] showed that, in *E. coli*, beneficial effects of VHb correlated with VHb expression levels up to a saturation level (3.4  $\mu$ mol VHb g<sup>-1</sup> cell), above which no further improvements could be observed. Khosla et al. [96] proposed that VHb expression could facilitate oxygen diffusion and improve aerobic metabolism in *E. coli*.

The cellular energetic parameters of VHb-expressing cells have been analyzed in various E. coli mutants lacking one or both of the terminal oxidases. Under aerobic conditions, no differences were seen between VHb<sup>+</sup> and control strains independent of the genetic background. However, under oxygen-limited conditions, the presence of VHb enhanced the growth rate and final cell density in a cyd mutant relative to the corresponding control strain [98]. Based on these observations, Kallio et al. [98] formulated a hypothesis, stating that the expression of VHb increases the effective intracellular oxygen concentration under microaerobic conditions. Such an increase would shift the relative activity of the terminal oxidases. The energetically more favorable cytochrome  $bo_3$ , which possesses higher proton translocation activity, would predominantly be used in VHb-expressing microaerobic E. coli cells [98–100].

This hypothesis has been studied in detail and it was found that expression of VHb increased cytochrome  $bo_3$ content five-fold and cytochrome *bd* content 1.5-fold relative to Hb-free controls. No differences in the level of cytochrome *bd* were observed in a *cyo* mutant strain upon expression of VHb; conversely, VHb expression in a cyo<sup>+</sup> *cyd* mutant strain led to a two-fold increase in the amount of cytochrome *bo*<sub>3</sub>. Furthermore, it was concluded that the specific activity of cytochrome *bo*<sub>3</sub> was enhanced by VHb [97]. Inspection of interactions between VHb and the various subunits of cytochrome *bo*<sub>3</sub> and *bd*, using a yeast two-hybrid system, has verified the observation that VHb mainly interacts with cytochrome *bo*<sub>3</sub>. VHb was found to interact specifically with subunit I of the cytochrome *bo*<sub>3</sub> complexes from *Vitreoscilla*, *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* [101].

As a result of enhanced respiratory activity, VHb-expressing cells are able to generate a 50% higher proton flux per reduced oxygen molecule (relative to a VHb-negative control) [97,98]. The higher proton flux led to a 30% higher ATP synthase activity and a 65% higher net ATP turnover, thus supporting the model of Kallio et al. [97,98,102]. Dikshit et al. [103] showed that an *E. coli* mutant lacking both terminal oxidases could grow on the aerobic substrates succinate and lactate when the cells were engineered to express VHb. These results suggest that VHb itself might harbor a terminal oxidase function. However, this potential function of VHb has not been investigated further and we have not been able to verify these results using a different *E. coli* strain lacking both terminal oxidases (Kallio, P., personal communication).

Due to the observed interplay of VHb with terminal oxidase, VHb might affect the electron flux through the respiratory chain in *E. coli*, thus changing the NAD(P)<sup>+/</sup> NAD(P)H ratio and ultimately the flux through the primary carbon metabolism. Fluorescence measurements indicated that, near anoxic conditions, the steady state level of cellular NAD(P)H was 1.8-fold lower in a VHb-expressing *E. coli* strain relative to control cells. Importantly, no significant differences in the total NAD(P)<sup>+/</sup>NAD(P)H pool were measured, indicating that the observed reduction of the NAD(P)H level was due to a shift in the ratio of the redox couple. The responses to rapidly changing oxygen tension were slower, suggesting that VHb buffers the intracellular redox state by sustaining normal respiration during the absence of aeration [104].

Furthermore, VHb-positive cells contained increased amounts of tRNA's and active 70S ribosome complexes under microaerobic conditions in *E. coli*. This was also accompanied by a corresponding increase of a marker enzyme activity [105]. This could be due to an increase in the amount of available GTP, required for the binding of tRNA to the small ribosomal subunit during the first step of translation initiation. A previous review [106] summarizes the metabolic pathway of inosine-5'-monophosphate (IMP), which is a common precursor for both AMP and GMP. A high ATP concentration favors GMP synthesis and inhibits the synthesis of IMP from GMP in *E. coli*.

Previous energetic experiments revealed that VHb-ex-

pressing E. coli cells have higher ATP levels [98,107], which should also lead ultimately to elevated GTP levels in VHb-expressing strains. VHb-expressing strains have higher ATP levels, based on one-dimensional <sup>31</sup>P nuclear magnetic resonance measurements, which measure total NTP levels. A generalized assumption has been made that the increased NTP peak of VHb-expressing cells is due to the enhanced production of ATP [98,107]. However, it cannot be ruled out that the production of either CTP, TTP or GTP has also increased. It could be possible that the relative ratio between ATP and GTP, shown to be approximately 4:1 both in exponentially growing cells and in stationary phase cultures, has remained the same [108,109]. VHb-expressing cells may also have higher GTP levels and faster GTP turnover rates, and for that reason ribosomes are able to utilize more GTP for protein synthesis. GTP is also needed for positioning of the large 50S subunit with the initiation complex in prokaryotes. Thus, elevated GTP levels may also improve the formation of 70S complexes in VHb-expressing E. coli relative to controls. A putative explanation for the increased translational activity and the 3.2-fold enhancement of number of active 70S ribosomes at the end of the 30-h bioreactor cultivation, is that VHb-expressing strains have more ATP and more GTP than the VHb-negative controls.

Lately it has been revealed that VHb protects cells from nitrosative stress [31,77]. NO-sensitive, cellular respiration of E. coli cells was protected by the presence of VHb up to an NO concentration of 10 µM, whereas at 20 µM a more than 50% reduced respiration rate was reported [77]. In contrast, the respiration of an HMP-expressing strain was insensitive to NO up to a concentration of 60 µM [110]. However, NO detoxification activity of VHb in vitro has been judged negligible [31]. Despite the protective effect of VHb against nitrosative stress in vivo, we could not detect any induction of P<sub>vhb</sub> under such conditions, thus one may question if VHb would protect its native host against toxic nitrogen compounds (Frey, A.D., personal communication). However, activation of P<sub>vhb</sub> by FNR upon shift to oxygen limitation might protect the host from reactive nitrogen species produced during nitrate/nitrite respiration.

# 4.2. E. coli flavoHb HMP

#### 4.2.1. Regulation of hmp expression

To elucidate possible roles of *E. coli* HMP protein, Poole and co-workers [90] have studied *hmp* regulation under various growth conditions. Anaerobic expression is enhanced in an *fnr* mutant [90]. HMP expression was stimulated directly by the presence of nitrate (only anaerobically) and nitrite. Nitric oxide was found to function as an inducer under aerobic conditions. The effects of these nitrogen compounds were mediated independently of NarLP and SoxRS regulatory systems [90]. Furthermore, induction of HMP expression was observed in cells entering the stationary growth phase. This induction is mediated by the stationary phase-specific sigma subunit ( $\sigma^{s}$ ) of RNA polymerase [111].

FNR functions as a repressor under anaerobic conditions. An FNR-binding site occurs at positions -2 to +11in the promoter region ( $P_{hmp}$ ), and binding of FNR to this DNA sequence was demonstrated using gel retardation and DNase I protection assays [90,112]. A mode of  $P_{hmp}$ induction under anoxic conditions involving FNR has been recently outlined [112]. Based on the observation that NO is able to reversibly inactivate FNR by nitrosylation, the NO response of a  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  fusion was analyzed under anoxic conditions. Upon exposure to NO,  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  was derepressed due to inactivation of FNR. In the *fnr* mutant no effect of NO on the derepressed level of  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  activity was observed [112]. Affinity of FNR to Phmp could be similarly reduced upon incubation of FNR in presence of O2 and NO. The reversible inactivation of FNR via nitrosylation by NO represents an alternative pathway for regulation of FNR activity [112]. As outlined above, the anaerobic NO detoxifying activity of HMP is only minor and more potent NO detoxifying activities exist in E. coli under anoxic conditions.

Induction of hmp expression by NO was shown to be dependent on MetR, which is the global regulator of the methionine biosynthetic pathway in E. coli. Two MetRbinding sites are located in the intergenic region between *hmp* and glyA, which are divergently transcribed [113]. Homocysteine is a co-regulator for MetR and mutations in the methionine pathway (*metL*), the function of which is also needed for homocysteine synthesis, made these mutants sensitive to various NO compounds. Upon feeding of homocysteine to the growing cultures, resistance against nitrosative stress was restored [114]. MetR has also been shown to be necessary for induction of  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  by SNP (sodium nitroprusside) and GSNO (S-nitrosoglutathione), but only the downstream MetR-binding site is essential for induction of *hmp* expression [113]. Induction occurs upon depletion of homocysteine, which allows MetR to bind to the promoter region. Inactivation of homocysteine may occur via a nitrosation reaction [113].

*Hmp* regulation is also achieved by the addition of an iron chelator, which induced expression 40-fold under anaerobic and five-fold under aerobic conditions [90]. The observed stimulation might result from complexing iron and a subsequent inactivation of the [Fe–S] cluster of FNR, leading to the derepression of promoter activity. However, no Fur-binding site is present in the promoter sequence of *hmp*, which is in marked contrast to the situation in *Salmonella* serovar Typhimurium outlined below.

Membrillo-Hernández et al. [115] also reported the induction of a  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  in the presence of superoxideproducing paraquat. The induction of *sodA-lacZ* followed a subtler pattern, as did the  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$ , the expression of which was induced only by paraquat concentrations above 200  $\mu$ M. The independence of HMP upregulation by SoxRS was shown using *E. coli* mutants of either of these two transcriptional regulators. Anjum et al. [116] showed a 28-fold induction of a  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  fusion after a prolonged incubation in the presence of paraquat, a treatment that induced HMP expression to spectrally detectable levels.

#### 4.2.2. Function of HMP protein

The observation that HMP is an NADH oxidase, and is thereby able to generate superoxide radicals and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, was used to formulate the hypothesis that HMP might be involved in the oxidative stress response in E. coli [66,67]. Interestingly, HMP not only generates ROS, but is also needed for full expression of sodA and soxS. Furthermore, an hmp mutant was markedly more sensitive towards paraquat, particularly at lower paraquat concentrations, as shown by a viability assay [117]. Expression of HMP in E. coli protected cells against paraquat-induced oxidative stress, as judged from the superior growth behavior relative to a control [31]. However, it might be argued that the role of HMP under oxidative stress might be dose dependent, since the overexpression of HMP led to the production of ROS. Poole and Hughes [118] suggested that HMP might act as an amplifier of superoxide stress, leading to the full expression of SoxRS stress response.

Various classes of proteins, such as [Fe–S], Cu/Fe or heme-containing proteins, are considered to be targets of RNS. Aconitase, a protein containing a radical-sensitive, labile [Fe–S] center, is a prime target for inactivation by RNS. The protective activity of HMP was demonstrated in vivo as well as in vitro [72]. Terminal oxidases contain both heme and Cu and are main targets of NO inhibition. Stevanin et al. [57] reported a protective effect of HMP on the activity of both terminal oxidases. Respiration of an *hmp* mutant was extremely sensitive to NO and half-maximal inhibition was achieved at an NO concentration of  $0.8 \,\mu$ M. However, the degree of inhibition increased at low oxygen concentrations.

# 4.3. Regulation and function of S. enterica serovar Typhimurium flavoHb (HmpStm)

The flavoHb of *Salmonella* serovar Typhimurium (HmpStm), which shares 94% identity with *E. coli* HMP, was shown to provide resistance against various NO donors and acidified nitrite both aerobically and anaerobically [35,36]. The wild-type and an isogenic *hmp* mutant showed no differences in the minimal inhibitory concentrations of paraquat and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Also, the synergistic action of NO- and O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>-forming peroxynitrite did not result in differences in the viability, thus implying that HmpStm is exclusively protecting from RNS [35]. Analysis of a  $\Phi(hmpStm-lacZ)$  fusion revealed that the expression in re-

sponse to NO is independent of SoxS, OxyR and FNR under aerobic conditions. However, in a *fur* mutant complete derepression of  $\Phi(hmpStm-lacZ)$  was observed that could not be augmented by an NO bolus or by addition of an iron chelator. A putative Fur-binding box is present in the promoter region of the *hmp*Stm gene. Additional genes known to be repressed by Fur were induced by the addition of NO, thus showing that NO is indeed able to inactivate Fur. This model of Fur inactivation by NO has been demonstrated for the Fur protein of *E. coli* [119]. Induction of  $\Phi(hmpStm-lacZ)$  by the iron chelator was similar in wild-type and *hmp*Stm mutant strains, with both being insensitive to low iron levels, indicating that *hmp*Stm expression is exclusively regulated via Fur [36].

Stevanin et al. [110] recently reported some evidence that HmpStm expression protects cells in vivo, using human macrophages. A strain with a deleted *hmp*Stm gene was found to be more sensitive to macrophage-mediated killing than the wild-type strain. However, for both strains the number of viable cells was already reduced by approximately 90% 30 min after internalization of the bacteria by non-activated human macrophages and remained at this level.

# 4.4. Regulation and function of R. eutropha flavoHb (FHP)

FHP expression is 20-fold upregulated under oxygenlimited conditions in the denitrifying bacterium R. eutro*pha* [13]. Two potential binding motifs for NarL (centered around -108) and FNR (centered around -86) in the upstream non-coding region of *fhp* have been identified. The regulation of FHP by these two global regulatory molecules suggests a role of FHP in the anaerobic metabolism of R. eutropha. Isogenic fhp mutants show no significant differences in aerobic or anaerobic growth. However, the mutant strain did not accumulate nitrous oxide during denitrification with nitrite as electron acceptor [33]. Recently, the NOD activity of FHP has been demonstrated, though being five- to 10-fold lower than the NO turnover rate of flavoHb from pathogenic bacteria [31,75]. Furthermore, expression of FHP in E. coli cells enhanced resistance against nitrosative stress [31]. These results suggest that FHP may also protect R. eutropha from NO and related molecules during denitrification process, which are unavoidable side products. The intracellular NO concentration during denitrification, however, is tightly controlled by NO reductases [120]. Thus, it is not clear if the NO detoxifying activity of FHP is of any effect under denitrifying conditions.

#### 4.5. B. subtilis *flavoHb* (*HmpBs*)

 $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  is induced during nitrate respiration by a shift to anaerobic conditions, but not during fermentative growth in *B. subtilis* [37]. Absence of *hmp*Bs expression

during anaerobic growth and expression during nitrate respiration has recently been verified using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis under strictly defined growth conditions [121]. FNR acts as an inducer on hmpBs and is in turn dependent on ResD-ResE, which controls aerobic and anaerobic respiration in *B. subtilis*. In  $\Delta resDE$  cells, induction of hmpBs was 10-fold lower relative to wild-type cells upon a shift to oxygen limitation, and was abolished by deletion of fnr and narG. Addition of nitrite, but not nitrate, restored induction of  $\Phi(hmp-lacZ)$  [37]. The conclusion is that upon a shift to anaerobiosis nitrate respiration occurs, which is dependent on FNR and narG. Deletion analysis of regulatory sequences and DNase I footprinting experiments indicated that the binding site for ResD is located between -67 and -49 in the promoter region [122]. Besides controlling anaerobic induction of hmp, ResDE-dependent genes were shown to respond to RNS, albeit to different extents. Deletion of either ResD or ResE reduced SNP-induced expression, although a basal expression level was observed in both mutant strains. *Hmp* expression is induced 20-fold upon exposure to SNP (aerobic), and almost 100-fold under anaerobic conditions in the presence of SNP (200-fold in the presence of NO) [123], thus indicating that HmpBs also serves to protect from RNS, which was demonstrated recently [31]. Surprisingly, NO-degrading activity was found to be dependent on NO concentration under conditions during which other proteins did not show any response to elevated amounts of NO [31].

#### 4.6. FlavoHbs from various bacterial species

Little is known concerning the flavoHbs from M. tuberculosis (HmpMt) and P. aeruginosa (HmpPa), two pathogens which cause severe infections and whose treatment is impaired due to the occurrence of antibiotic resistance. HmpMt seems to be mainly induced upon entry into the stationary phase (five-fold) if the growth is oxygen limited. Furthermore, a short shift to anaerobic conditions was able to induce expression [39]. Using microarray technology, a comparison of 4-day and 100-day cultures revealed a 1.8-fold higher expression level of hmpMt at the latter timepoint [124]. RNS only slightly induced expression of hmpMt (1.5-fold), and ROS decreased expression by 50%. Exposure to ROS or RNS had no effect on cell viability. Besides one flavoHb, M. tuberculosis possesses two additional globin proteins, which belong to the group of trHb (HbO and HbN) [19,125].

An interesting observation was recently reported by Firoved and Deretic [126]. Comparison of a mucoid wild-type to a mucoidy suppressor strain revealed a strong 61-fold induction of HmpPa expression in the suppressor strain during the exponential growth phase under aerobic conditions. Furthermore, other genes encoding NO reductase were also strongly induced (20- to 50-fold). It has been suggested that the expression of NO detoxifying genes is upregulated to compensate for the reduced protection normally provided by the mucoid phenotype. Previously, we have shown that HmpPa is able to detoxify NO and to protect a heterologous host against nitrosative stress [31].

Early support for the hypothesis that flavoHb proteins function as integral components of stress response was reported by Favey et al. [38]. They showed that upon inactivation of the flavoHb gene (hmpX) in the plant pathogen E. chrysanthemi, the bacterium became unable to infect plant species. This behavior could be attributed to the reduction in the synthesis of pectate lyases (PL), which are pathogenicity determinants of E. chrysanthemi under conditions of low oxygen tension. The synthesis of PL is abolished in hmpX mutant cells upon infection of Saintpaulia plants. The regulation of hmpX expression was also shown to be dependent on plant host factors, as demonstrated by the upregulation of a  $\Phi(hmpX-gus)$  by cocultivation of E. chrysanthemi in the presence of a tobacco suspension culture. Microaerobic conditions per se, as encountered upon infection, were not sufficient to start transcription of a  $\Phi(hmpX-gus)$  [38]. The involvement of NO compounds in the plant defense has been shown [127], and therefore it is very likely that *hmpX* expression contributes to the resistance against RNS radicals.

#### 5. Hbs and flavoHbs in biotechnology

Oxygen is the electron acceptor of choice in allowing the cell to generate energy in the most efficient way. During respiratory growth on oxygen, energy is produced by coupling substrate oxidation to the reduction of oxygen. Substrates, such as glucose, pyruvate, lactate and succinate, are completely oxidized via the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle with concomitant transfer of electrons to the cellular quinone pool [128]. The electrons are transferred further to one of the two terminal oxidases. Cytochrome  $bo_3$  is the terminal oxidase of choice at atmospheric oxygen levels ( $K_m = 0.35 \mu$ M), whereas cytochrome bd is active during microaerobic growth ( $K_m = 3-5 n$ M) [99,100,129].

In the absence of oxygen, but in the presence of an appropriate alternative electron acceptor, *E. coli* cells can produce a set of alternative respiratory oxidoreductases, which catalyze the transfer of electrons to fumarate, nitrate, dimethyl sulfoxide or trimethylamine-*N*-oxide [130, 131]. In the complete absence of oxygen and alternative electron acceptors, the cellular metabolism of *E. coli* switches to fermentative pathways [132]. These catabolic pathways involve redox-balanced dismutation of the carbon source, substrate level phosphorylation and the formation of fermentation products such as acetate, formate (H<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>), ethanol, lactate and succinate [132].

The switch between different metabolic modes is accompanied by fairly dramatic changes at the transcriptional level. Two global regulators ensure the expression of the appropriate enzymatic configuration: FNR and ArcAB, which both can function synergistically and antagonistically on the expression of certain genes. Furthermore, their regulatory function is assisted by other regulatory proteins, such as NarL/P [128]. These regulatory mechanisms ensure that the energetically most favorable metabolic pathway is used. Thus, oxygen is used in preference to nitrate, nitrate to fumarate, and fumarate to the endogenously generated electron acceptors, which are produced in the fermentative pathways [133].

The commercial production of a variety of desirable metabolites and important pharmaceuticals employs the overexpression capacity of oxygen-requiring bacteria, fungi and mammalian cells. Oxygen has very low solubility in water and various microorganisms and cultured cell types have high nutritional demand for oxygen, especially during large-scale and high-cell-density production processes. The high demand for oxygen can be partially satisfied by improving process parameters and bioreactor configurations, e.g. improved mixing rates, high-efficiency dispersion systems and modifications of the medium [134].

# 5.1. Use of VHb to improve cell growth and productivity

Metabolic engineering approaches seek genetic strategies, for example to alleviate adverse effects of oxygen limitation on microorganisms, higher cells and plants [135]. The approach is based on previous observations that *Vitreoscilla* expresses Hb under oxygen deprivation. The *vhb* gene was successfully transferred to *E. coli* and upon expression of VHb, growth and protein production of *E. coli* was enhanced under microaerobic conditions [89,96]. The positive effects of VHb expression, promoting either the efficiency of oxygen-limited growth and/or production of primary and secondary metabolites in numerous microorganisms, are well documented (Table 3). This technology seems to be especially beneficial for myceliumforming microorganisms, such as the antibiotic-producing Streptomyces strains, Acremonium crysogenum and Saccharopolyspora erythraea. It is known that oxygen transfer to the mycelial pellet is limited and is especially critical when such microorganisms are grown in highly viscous industrial media. In such situations, VHb expression seems to enhance antibiotic production. The VHb expression technology has been successfully tested in collaboration with the biotechnological industry, using an industrial S. erythraea strain producing erythromycin. The vhb gene was stably integrated into the genome of S. erythraea using Streptomyces phage  $\Phi$ C31 attachment site [136]. VHb expression significantly increased erythromycin production, resulting in an enhanced space-time yield of approximately 100% (1.1 g erythromycin  $l^{-1}$  day<sup>-1</sup>) relative to the original strain. The final erythromycin titer was 7.4 g  $1^{-1}$  after 9 days of cultivation for the engineered strain (control 4.0 g  $l^{-1}$ ) [137]. Thus, these results show that this technology may generally be applied to improve the metabolism of industrially important antibiotic-producing strains and of other filamentous microorganisms.

2,4-Dinitrotoluene (2,4-DNT) is a serious contaminant at munitions facilities. The pathway of 2,4-DNT degradation by *Burkholderia* sp. strain DNT has been analyzed by biochemical and genetic means. Oxygen was shown to be required for three steps in the oxidative degradation pathway [138]. Thus, VHb technology has been considered useful to improve the bioremediation capacity of *Burkhol*-

Table 3

Effects of VHb expression on growth and prod	luctivity	
--	-----------	--

Organism	Effects	Reference
Acremonium chrysogenum	3.2-fold increase in cephalosporin C production	[159]
Bacillus subtilis	$30\%$ increase in neutral protease, 7–15% increase in $\alpha\text{-amylase}$ activity and 1.5-fold increase in protein secretion	[160]
Burkholderia sp.	15% increase in biomass and two-fold increase in the rate of DNT degradation	[88,139]
Chinese hamster ovary cells	40-100% increase in tissue plasminogen activator production	[143]
Corynebacterium glutamicum	30% increase in L-lysine titer and 24% increase in L-lysine yield	[161]
Escherichia coli	$30\%$ increase in total cell protein, $80\%$ increase in CAT activity, $40\%$ increase in $\beta$ -galactosidase activity	[89]
Escherichia coli	61% increase in $\beta$ -lactamase activity	[105]
Escherichia coli	3.3-fold increase in $\alpha$ -amylase activity	[162]
Escherichia coli	1.8-fold increase in ferritin production	[163]
Nicotiana tabacum	50% faster germination, enhanced growth, 80-100% more dry weight, 30-40% more chlorophyll,	[164]
	34% more nicotine	
Nicotiana tabacum, suspension culture	10-50% enhanced growth, shortened lag phase	[142]
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	11% increase in viable cell number, increased oxygen uptake	[165]
Rhizobium etli	68% higher nitrogenase activity in nodules of bean plants and 53% higher total nitrogen content	[87]
Saccharomyces cerevisiae	three-fold increase in final cell density	[102]
Saccharopolyspora erythraea	70% increase in final erythromycin titer	[136,137]
Serratia marcescens	enhancement of acetoin and 2,3-butanediol production, increase in cell size	[85,86]
Streptomyces coelicolor	10-fold increase in actinorhodin production	[84]
Streptomyces lividans	50% increase in final cell density	[84]
Streptomyces rimosus	2.2-fold increase in oxytetracycline production	[144]
Xanthomonas maltophila	15% increase in viable cell number, enhanced degradation of benzoic acid	[166]

*deria* sp. strain DNT and indeed expression of VHb improved the rate of 2,4-DNT degradation [88]. The enhancement of the degradation capacity was shown to be dependent on culture conditions. Feeding of a co-substrate increased the total amount of 2,4-DNT removal. Generally, VHb-expressing strains reached higher final cell numbers at 200 ppm 2,4-DNT, whereas at lower concentrations no differences were seen relative to *Burkholderia* sp. strain DNT. Furthermore, the former displayed significantly improved bioremediation characters [139]. However, it cannot be concluded if the observed effects are due to an enhanced biodegradative activity or are the result of the higher cell numbers due to the improved growth properties of VHb-expressing cells.

The beneficial effects of VHb-expression technology were shown not to be restricted to bacterial organisms. The use of plants and plant cells for the production of natural or recombinant compounds has recently gained momentum [140]. Oxygen supply to plant cells is known to affect both cell growth and the production of metabolites [141]. Therefore, Farrés and Kallio [142] have expressed VHb suspension cultured tobacco cells. VHb expression resulted in a shortened lag phase and 10–50% increased final cell densities in batch cultures relative to control cultures. No differences were seen in sucrose consumption or ethanol production [142]. Furthermore, in a mammalian system, tissue plasminogen activator production has been increased 40–100% in VHb-expressing Chinese hamster ovary cells relative to controls [143].

The above-cited results show that heterologous VHb expression is able to alleviate oxygen limitation in a wide range of distinct organisms. Thus, the inverse metabolic engineering approach, i.e. the genetic transfer of useful phenotypes to heterologous organisms, represents a fast and effective means to alleviate the adverse effects of oxygen limitation [144].

# 5.2. Novel globin proteins for improved performance in heterologous hosts

It has been hypothesized that the biochemical properties of VHb are not optimized for foreign host cells [145]. Therefore, screening of novel globin proteins and generation of VHb mutants has been performed to adapt the VHb technology for certain biotechnological applications.

#### 5.2.1. VHb mutants and single chain variants of VHb

Andersson et al. [145] have used error-prone PCR (polymerase chain reaction) to generate a number of randomly mutated *vhb* genes. VHb mutants were screened for improved growth properties under microaerobic conditions in *E. coli*. Several clones were selected and analyzed to elucidate the physiological effects of novel VHb proteins. The expression of four VHb mutants, carried by pVM20, pVM50, pVM104 and pVM134, was able to enhance microaerobic growth of *E. coli* approximately 22% (mutations: Glu-A17 and Glu-H23 to Gly), 155% (His-C1 to Arg and Gln-E20 to Arg), 50% (Ala-E10 to Gly) and 90% (Ile-B5 to Thr), respectively, with a concomitant decrease of acetate excretion into the culture medium. The effects of the amino acid exchanges on the structure have not been analyzed in detail. Glu-H23 is part of a H-bonding network at the proximal site of the heme thought to provide an electronic push and to be partially responsible for the activation of  $O_2$ . The absence of this residue might lower the auto-oxidation rate of the heme and therefore favor reversible O<sub>2</sub> binding. Due to the cloning strategy used in their construction, the mutated VHb proteins also contained an extension of eight residues (MTMITPSF) at their N-termini. The experiments indicated that the positive effects elicited by mutant VHb expression from pVM20 and pVM50 were linked to the N-terminal peptide tail. Removal of the N-terminal sequence from pVM20 and pVM50 reduced cell growth approximately 23% and 53%, respectively, relative to native VHb controls [145].

If criteria other than final OD<sub>600</sub> are applied (e.g.  $\mu_{max}$ ), other VHb mutants outperform native VHb. Of the mutants reaching higher final cell densities, only pVM50 exhibited a higher  $\mu_{max}$  (50%) than the strain expressing native VHb. The strain carrying a Lys-F2 to Asn mutation grew fastest and had a two-fold higher  $\mu_{max}$ , and a His-BC1 to Arg substitution enhanced  $\mu_{max}$  by 50%. Lys-F2 has been predicted to be part of the intramolecular hydrophobic zipper observed between helix F and H. These structures also build the contact region for interaction between the two VHb subunits. Thus, the quaternary architecture might be altered by the Lys-F2 to Asn substitution, e.g. changing the O<sub>2</sub>-binding kinetics.

The glucose consumption rate and biomass yield on glucose  $(Y_{x/glc})$  for mutants versus native VHb protein has yet to be analyzed. However, experiments have revealed that clear differences in  $Y_{x/glc}$  exist among strains expressing various Hbs [30,146]. Our data (Kallio, P., unpublished results) show that growth of cells carrying pVM50 is already glucose-limited after 10 h of growth, in contrast to pVM20 and native VHb-expressing cells, leading to a double limitation (O<sub>2</sub> and carbon source). This clearly indicates that growth protocols, established for VHb-expressing cells, are not ideally suited to assess the growth-promoting potential of cells expressing VHb mutants.

Since VHb exists as a homodimer, it was determined if a single chain variant containing two *vhb* genes separated by a short linker (termed double VHb) could outperform growth properties of a strain expressing native VHb. Expression of double VHb, which was judged to be biochemically active, increased final cell density about 19% relative to the native VHb-expressing *E. coli* cells. Based on a computer model, the authors proposed that formation of oligomeric structures composed of several double VHb might occur [147]. However, it has yet to be analyzed if such structures exist in vivo.

## 539

# 5.2.2. Screening of flavoHb and Hb proteins and construction of chimeric proteins

Due to the high structural similarity between VHb and FHPg, several chimeric protein fusions between VHb and the reductase constituents of FHP were constructed. Truncated forms of FHP were also generated [148]. Upon expression of these constructs in microaerobically grown *E. coli* cells, increased final cell densities were observed after 30-h fed-batch cultivations, relative to control strains. Expression of the native FHP or the chimeric fusion between VHb and the reductase domain of FHP (VHb-Red) resulted in an approximately 50% and 75% higher final cell density, respectively, relative to the VHb-expressing strain. Furthermore, all Hb- or flavoHb-expressing strains accumulated less acetate, indicating a less anaerobic metabolism [148].

To analyze the primary carbon metabolism of the strains expressing VHb, FHP, VHb-Red and FHPg, <sup>13</sup>Clabeling experiments were conducted. The active pathway configuration is imprinted into the proteinogenic amino acids, and analysis of the labeling pattern using nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy subsequently allows calculation of the flux distribution in the primary carbon metabolism. [149]. Cells were fractionally labeled with <sup>13</sup>C]glucose during the late-exponential phase, a timepoint at which growth of control culture ceases rapidly whereas Hb- or flavoHb-expressing E. coli cells continue to grow. Interestingly, the carbon routing in microaerobically grown VHb- or VHb-Red-expressing cells and control cells was strikingly similar and closely resembled the labeling pattern of wild-type E. coli cells grown under anaerobic conditions, i.e. the TCA cycle was interrupted and found to be replenished by the anaplerotic reaction. Furthermore, 70% of acetyl-CoA was synthesized via pyruvate-formate lyase (PFL) [146,150]. Additionally, dilution of the intracellular acetate pool occurred, which is indicative for re-uptake of the excreted acetate (10% of total amount of acetate). This effect was even stronger if cells were grown in the presence of excess glucose (30-40% of intracellular acetate) (Frey, A., personal communication). In contrast, expression of FHP or FHPg shifted the metabolism to a more aerobic regime, with a functional TCA cycle and a low or absent PFL activity. PFL has a highly oxygen-sensitive radical in its active site and is therefore readily inactivated by the presence of minute amounts of oxygen. Despite the identical carbon flux distribution of VHb- and VHb-Red-expressing cells and control strains, VHb/VHb-Red-expressing cells still exhibited better growth and energetic characteristics, i.e. cells grew faster, displayed a lower production of fermentative byproducts and a higher oxygen consumption rate, and had an overall increased  $Y_{\rm x/glc}$  [146].

Bollinger et al. [30] have screened various microbial genomes for the existence of uncharacterized and unidentified Hb and flavoHb genes, which possibly could be used in biotechnological production processes to improve cell growth and metabolic properties under oxygen-limited conditions. Growth behavior and byproduct formation of E. coli cells expressing various hemoproteins were analyzed in microaerobic fed-batch cultivations. E. coli cells expressing flavoHbs from P. aeruginosa, S. typhi and D. radiodurans grew to similar final cell densities, as did the strain expressing VHb (2.98 g  $1^{-1}$  cell dry weight). Although the clones expressing flavoHbs from E. coli, B. subtilis and K. pneumoniae or the Hb from C. jejuni outperformed the plasmid-bearing control strain (2.06 g  $1^{-1}$  cell dry weight), these clones did not reach the final cell densities measured for VHb-expressing variants. Additionally, increased  $Y_{\rm x/glc}$  was determined for all recombinant strains, and an approximately two-fold  $Y_{x/glc}$  enhancement was obtained with D. radiodurans flavoHbexpressing E. coli relative to the E. coli control carrying the parental plasmid. These results imply that Hb- and flavoHb-expressing strains are able to utilize the carbon substrate more efficiently [30].

Saccharomyces cerevisiae flavoHb ( $K_d = 0.03 \mu M$  [75]) or horse heart myoglobin ( $K_d = 0.79 \mu M$  [151]) did not improve growth of *E. coli* during microaerobic growth relative to plasmid-bearing control strains. In contrast, the  $K_d$ for VHb has been reported to be 70  $\mu M$  [25]. However, as mentioned before, a second set of kinetic data for VHb exists, which results in a  $K_d$  of 0.02  $\mu M$  [64], which is similar to the value reported for the flavoHb of *S. cerevisiae*. These results suggest that the kinetic properties for oxygen binding and release of the Hb proteins are not suitable to support microaerobic metabolism of *E. coli* as proposed previously [152].

#### 6. Conclusions

Bacterial Hbs and flavoHbs are surprisingly versatile proteins serving several biological functions, including protection of the host cell from nitrosative and oxidative stress and delivering oxygen to respiring cells.

A growing body of evidence has accumulated in the last few years, demonstrating a role for flavoHbs in the response to the threat posed by nitrosative stress. This general role of flavoHb in NO defense is of great interest for clinical microbiology. Pathogenic microorganisms, such as *M. tuberculosis* and *Salmonella* serovar Typhimurium, might profit from this resistance mechanism upon infection of a potential host. Bearing in mind the steadily increasing number of antibiotic-resistant pathogens, flavoHbs might represent a novel drug target for therapy.

The expression of many flavoHb genes is induced by environmental stress conditions such as oxygen deprivation or oxidative and nitrosative stress. Several regulatory proteins have been implicated in the control of gene expression, such as FNR, ResD/E, Fur, NarL/P, MetR and stationary phase responsive  $\sigma^{S}$  [36,37,39,90]. In general, induction of flavoHb gene expression is independent of the oxidative stress responsive SoxRS and OxyR transcription factors [36,37,39,90].

Oxidative and nitrosative stress are common phenomena, caused by exposure of cells to ROS and RNS, both of which can damage biomolecules such as proteins, nucleic acids and cellular membranes. Under normal growth conditions, a balance exists between the amount of radicals produced and the cellular defense mechanisms [153]. Defense mechanisms against oxidative and nitrosative stress are generally under the control of SoxRS and OxyR, which exist in a variety of bacteria (for review, see [154]). Exposure to a boost of radicals results in the rapid induction of adaptive defense enzymes independent of, or under the control of, SoxRS and OxyR. Various gene products (e.g. ahpC, metL, noxR1, noxR3, sodA, katG and gor) have been shown to contribute to this defense, protecting against either or both kinds of these bacteriocidal products [155].

Besides RNS and ROS, which both serve cytotoxic and immunoregulatory functions, the arsenal of antimicrobial agents also comprises for example myeloperoxidase, elastase, cathepsin G and phospholipase A2. All of these compounds contribute to the host defense. Knockout studies in mice showed that, dependent on the pathogen, different compounds are essential for the host defense. For example, production of ROS by phagocyte oxidase is essential, whereas RNS produced by inducible nitric oxide synthase are only contributory to the defense against *Salmonella* serovar Typhimurium [156]. Thus, it can be anticipated that the role of flavoHb in the bacteria's defense mechanisms is dependent on its host, and its contribution to overall defense varies among different organisms.

In contrast to flavoHbs, Hb proteins may serve different functions and their exact roles are still poorly defined. VHb has been widely used to improve growth of a variety of microorganisms under oxygen-limited growth conditions. The observed beneficial effects of VHb expression on metabolism have been proposed to be linked to increased respiratory activity, i.e. higher oxygen uptake, higher specific activities of terminal oxidases, specific interaction of VHb with cytochrome  $bo_3$  and, therefore, an overall improved cellular energetic charge.

However, recently two independent studies showed that VHb is also able to protect cells against RNS and shields the terminal oxidases from inactivation by NO [31,77]. In the experiments done so far, it has not been possible to determine the true mechanism of action of VHb or other bacterial Hb proteins when expressed in either native or heterologous hosts. It has been suggested that VHb might exist in two alternative forms: as a homodimer or as a heterodimer with a partner reductase [77]. However, the presence of RNS under standard cultivation conditions in *E. coli* is still a matter of debate, in contrast to denitrifying bacteria, where the production of these reactive molecules is well documented. The steady state NO concentrations vary between 1 and 65 nM, depending on species and

growth conditions [120]. In a medium containing nitrite, the production of NO at acidic pH might occur via protonation of nitrite and subsequent dismutation into several species of nitrogen oxides, including NO. Under oxygenlimited conditions, notable amounts of organic acids are produced and excreted into the media, lowering the pH, and formation of RNS might occur under these conditions. Furthermore, NO production can occur endogenously using nitrite as an electron acceptor [157]. In our experiments, we have observed a low expression of E. coli hmp in the late-exponential phase of growth and also upon entering the stationary phase under oxygen-limited conditions (Frey, A. D., personal communication). Induction of *hmp* might be an indication of the presence of RNS. Thus, expression of heterologous flavoHbs and Hbs might improve protection of organisms against RNS and therefore favor growth of globin-expressing cells. Interestingly, prevention of inhibition of cytochrome activity or increasing the oxygen supply would result in identical effects, previously postulated to be due to a higher intracellular oxygen level.

Protein engineering approaches, either of rational or random origin or based on evolutionary selection, will help to improve the properties of globin proteins used in biotechnological production processes. However, one of the key limitations in the generation of improved VHb proteins is the lack of an efficient screening system. Screening of mutant strains in a defined experimental setup might result in the selection of phenotypically undesired mutant strains, since additional parameters might limit these mutants in outperforming the native protein under the standard conditions. It is quite obvious that previously applied methods may have resulted in the selection of a physiologically unfavorable group of mutants. Therefore, the exact mechanisms for improving growth and productivity have to be clarified first. This knowledge will be required for the setup of a screening system allowing rapid and clear identification of novel proteins with superior characters.

# Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Mark A. Strauch for critical reading of the manuscript and useful suggestions.

#### References

- Perutz, M.F. (1979) Regulation of oxygen affinity of hemoglobin: influence of structure of the globin on the heme iron. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 48, 327–386.
- [2] Perutz, M.F. (1969) Structure and function of hemoglobin. Harvey Lect. 63, 213–261.
- [3] Burmester, T., Weich, B., Reinhardt, S. and Hankein, T. (2000) A vertebrate globin expressed in the brain. Nature 407, 520–523.
- [4] Burmester, T., Ebner, B., Weich, B. and Hankeln, T. (2002) Cyto-

globin: a novel globin type ubiquitously expressed in vertebrate tissues. Mol. Biol. Evol. 19, 416–421.

- [5] Trent III, J.T. and Hargrove, M.S. (2002) A ubiquitously expressed human hexacoordinate hemoglobin. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 239–248.
- [6] Sun, Y., Jin, K., Mao, X.O., Zhu, Y. and Greenberg, D.A. (2001) Neuroglobin is up-regulated by and protects neurons from hypoxicischemic injury. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 15306–15311.
- [7] Weber, R.E. and Vinogradov, S.N. (2001) Nonvertebrate hemoglobins: functions and molecular adaptations. Physiol. Rev. 81, 569– 628.
- [8] Wakabayashi, S., Matsubara, H. and Webster, D.A. (1986) Primary sequence of a dimeric bacterial haemoglobin from *Vitreoscilla*. Nature 322, 481–483.
- [9] Taylor, E.R., Nie, X.Z., Macgregor, A.W. and Hill, R.D. (1994) A cereal hemoglobin gene is expressed in seed and root tissues under anaerobic conditions. Plant Mol. Biol. 24, 853–862.
- [10] Couture, M., Chamberland, H., St-Pierre, B., Lafontaine, J. and Guertin, M. (1994) Nuclear genes encoding chloroplast hemoglobins in the unicellular green alga *Chlamydomonas eugametos*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 243, 185–197.
- [11] Andersson, C.R., Jensen, E.O., Lewellyn, D.J.L.L., Dennis, E.S. and Peacock, W.J. (1996) A new hemoglobin gene from soybean: a role for hemoglobin in all plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 5682– 5687.
- [12] Arrendondo-Peter, R., Hargrove, M.S., Sarath, G., Moran, J.F., Lohrman, J., Olson, J.S. and Klucas, R.V. (1997) Rice hemoglobins. Gene cloning, analysis, and O<sub>2</sub>-binding kinetics of a recombinant protein synthesized in *Escherichia coli*. Plant Physiol. 115, 1259– 1266.
- [13] Probst, I., Wolf, G. and Schlegel, H.G. (1979) An oxygen-binding flavohemoprotein from *Alcaligenes eutrophus*. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 576, 471–478.
- [14] Zhu, H. and Riggs, A.F. (1992) Yeast flavohemoglobin is an ancient protein related to globins and a reductase family. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 5015–5019.
- [15] Takaya, N., Suzuki, S., Matsuo, M. and Shoun, H. (1997) Purification and characterization of a flavohemoglobin from the denitrifying fungus *Fusarium oxysporum*. FEBS Lett. 414, 545–548.
- [16] Iijima, M., Shimizu, H., Tanaka, Y. and Urushihara, H. (2000) Identification and characterization of two flavohemoglobin genes in *Dictyostelium discoideum*. Cell Struct. Funct. 25, 47–55.
- [17] Iwaasa, H., Takagi, T. and Shikama, K. (1989) Protozoan myoglobin from *Paramecium caudatum*. Its unusual amino acid sequence. J. Mol. Biol. 208, 355–358.
- [18] Potts, M., Angeloni, S.V., Ebel, R.E. and Bassam, D. (1992) Myoglobin in a cyanobacterium. Science 256, 1690–1692.
- [19] Milani, M., Pesce, A., Ouellet, Y., Ascenzi, P., Guertin, M. and Bolognesi, M. (2001) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* hemoglobin N displays a protein tunnel suited for O<sub>2</sub> diffusion to the heme. EMBO J. 20, 3902–3909.
- [20] Watts, R.A., Hunt, P.W., Hvitved, A.N., Hargrove, M.S., Peacock, W.J. and Dennis, E.S. (2001) A hemoglobin from plants homologous to truncated hemoglobins of microorganisms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 10119–10124.
- [21] Wittenberg, J.B., Bolognesi, M., Wittenberg, B.A. and Guertin, M. (2002) Truncated hemoglobins: a new family of hemoglobins widely distributed in bacteria, unicellular eukaryotes and plants. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 871–874.
- [22] Takagi, T. (1993) Hemoglobins from single-celled organisms. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 3, 413–418.
- [23] Webster, D.A. and Hackett, D.P. (1966) The purification and properties of cytochrome o from Vitreoscilla. J. Biol. Chem. 241, 3308–3315.
- [24] Webster, D.A. and Liu, C.Y. (1974) Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide cytochrome *o* reductase associated with cytochrome *o* purified from *Vitreoscilla*. Evidence for an intermediate oxygenated form of cytochrome *o*. J. Biol. Chem. 249, 4257–4260.
- [25] Orii, Y. and Webster, D.A. (1986) Photodissociation of oxygenated

cytochrome *o*(s) (*Vitreoscilla*) and kinetic studies of reassociation. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 3544–3547.

- [26] Dikshit, K.L. and Webster, D.A. (1988) Cloning, characterization and expression of the bacterial globin gene from *Vitreoscilla* in *Escherichia coli*. Gene 70, 377–386.
- [27] Khosla, C. and Bailey, J.E. (1988) The Vitreoscilla hemoglobin gene: molecular cloning, nucleotide sequence and genetic expression in *Escherichia coli*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 214, 158–161.
- [28] Gonzales-Prevatt, V. and Webster, D.A. (1980) Purification and properties of NADH-cytochrome *o* reductase from *Vitreoscilla*. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 1478–1482.
- [29] Webster, D.A. (1988) Structure and function of bacterial hemoglobin and related proteins. Adv. Inorg. Biochem. 7, 245–265.
- [30] Bollinger, C.J.T., Bailey, J.E. and Kallio, P.T. (2001) Novel hemoglobins to enhance microaerobic growth and substrate utilization in *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol. Prog. 17, 798–808.
- [31] Frey, A.D., Farrés, J., Bollinger, C.J.T. and Kallio, P.T. (2002) Bacterial hemoglobins and flavohemoglobins for alleviation of nitrosative stress in *Escherichia coli*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 4835–4840.
- [32] Weihs, V., Schmidt, K., Schneider, B. and Friedrich, B. (1989) The formation of an oxygen-binding flavohemoprotein in *Alcaligenes eu*trophus is plasmid-determined. Arch. Microbiol. 151, 546–550.
- [33] Cramm, R., Siddiqui, R.A. and Friedrich, B. (1994) Primary sequence and evidence for a physiological function of the flavohemoprotein of *Alcaligenes eutrophus*. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 7349–7354.
- [34] Vasudevan, S.G., Armarego, W.L.F., Shaw, D.C., Lilley, P.E., Dixon, N.E. and Poole, R.K. (1991) Isolation and nucleotide-sequence of the *hmp* gene that encodes a hemoglobin-like protein in *Escherichia coli* K-12. Mol. Gen. Genet. 226, 49–58.
- [35] Crawford, M.J. and Goldberg, D.E. (1998) Role for the Salmonella flavohemoglobin in protection from nitric oxide. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 12543–12547.
- [36] Crawford, M.J. and Goldberg, D.E. (1998) Regulation of the Salmonella typhimurium flavohemoglobin gene. A new pathway for bacterial gene expression in response to nitric oxide. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 34028–34032.
- [37] LaCelle, M., Kumano, M., Kurita, K., Yamane, K., Zuber, P. and Nakano, M.M. (1996) Oxygen-controlled regulation of the flavohemoglobin gene in *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. 178, 3803–3808.
- [38] Favey, S., Labesse, G., Vouille, V. and Boccara, M. (1995) Flavohaemoglobin HmpX: a new pathogenicity determinant in *Erwinia chrysanthemistrain* 3937. Microbiology 141, 863–871.
- [39] Hu, Y.M., Butcher, P.D., Mangan, J.A., Rajandream, M.A. and Coates, A.R.M. (1999) Regulation of *hmp* gene transcription in *My-cobacterium tuberculosis*: Effects of oxygen limitation and nitrosative and oxidative stress. J. Bacteriol. 181, 3486–3493.
- [40] Khosla, C. and Bailey, J.E. (1989) Evidence for partial export of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin into the periplasmic space in *Escherichia coli*. Implications for protein function. J. Mol. Biol. 210, 79–89.
- [41] Inouye, S., Duffaud, G. and Inouye, M. (1986) Structural requirement at the cleavage site for efficient processing of the lipoprotein secretory precursor of *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 10970– 10975.
- [42] Ramandeep, H.K.W., Raje, M., Kim, K.J., Stark, B.C., Dikshit, K.L. and Webster, D.A. (2001) *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin. Intracellular localization and binding to membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 24781– 24789.
- [43] Vasudevan, S.G., Tang, P., Dixon, N.E. and Poole, R.K. (1995) Distribution of the flavohaemoglobin, HMP, between periplasm and cytoplasm in *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 125, 219–224.
- [44] Ermler, U., Siddiqui, R.A., Cramm, R., Schröder, D. and Friedrich, B. (1995) Crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction studies of a bacterial flavohemoglobin protein. Proteins 21, 351–353.
- [45] Ermler, U., Siddiqui, R.A., Cramm, R. and Friedrich, B. (1995) Crystal structure of the flavohemoglobin from *Alcaligenes eutrophus* at 1.75 Å resolution. EMBO J. 14, 6067–6077.

- [46] Tarricone, C., Calogero, S., Galizzi, A., Coda, A., Ascenzi, P. and Bolognesi, M. (1997) Expression, purification, crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction analysis of the homodimeric bacterial hemoglobin from *Vitreoscilla stercoraria*. Proteins 27, 154–156.
- [47] Tarricone, C., Galizzi, A., Coda, A., Ascenzi, P. and Bolognesi, M. (1997) Unusual structure of the oxygen-binding site in the dimeric bacterial hemoglobin from *Vitreoscilla* sp. Structure 5, 497–507.
- [48] Ilari, A., Bonamore, A., Farina, A., Johnson, K.A. and Boffi, A. (2002) The X-ray structure of ferric *Escherichia coli* flavohemoglobin reveals an unexpected geometry of the distal heme pocket. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 23725–23732.
- [49] Bolognesi, M., Bordo, D., Rizzi, M., Tarricone, C. and Ascenzi, P. (1997) Nonvertebrate hemoglobins: structural bases for reactivity. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 68, 29–68.
- [50] Ollesch, G., Kaunzinger, A., Juchelka, D., Schubert-Zsilavecz, M. and Ermler, U. (1999) Phospholipid bound to the flavohemoprotein from *Alcaligenes eutrophus*. Eur. J. Biochem. 262, 396–405.
- [51] Goodin, D.B. and McRee, D.E. (1993) The Asp-His-Fe triad of cytochrome *c* peroxidase controls the reduction potential, electronic structure and coupling of the tryptophan free radical to the heme. Biochemistry 32, 3313–3324.
- [52] Mukai, M., Mills, C.E., Poole, R.K. and Yeh, S.R. (2001) Flavohemoglobin, a globin with a peroxidase-like catalytic site. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 7272–7277.
- [53] Choc, M.G., Webster, D.A. and Caughey, W.S. (1982) Oxygenated intermediate and carbonyl species of cytochrome o (*Vitreoscilla*). Characterization by infrared spectroscopy. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 865– 869.
- [54] Bonamore, A., Chiancone, E. and Boffi, A. (2001) The distal heme pocket of *Escherichia coli* flavohemoglobin probed by infrared spectroscopy. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1549, 174–178.
- [55] Bolognesi, M., Boffi, A., Coletta, M., Mozzarelli, A., Pesce, A., Tarricone, C. and Ascenzi, P. (1999) Anticooperative ligand-binding properties of recombinant ferric *Vitreoscilla* homodimeric hemoglobin: a thermodynamic, kinetic and X-ray crystallographic study. J. Mol. Biol. 291, 637–650.
- [56] Dikshit, K.L., Orii, Y., Navani, N., Patel, S., Huang, H.Y., Stark, B.C. and Webster, D.A. (1998) Site-directed mutagenesis of bacterial hemoglobin: The role of glutamine (E7) in oxygen-binding in the distal heme pocket. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 349, 161–166.
- [57] Stevanin, T.M., Ioannidis, N., Mills, C.E., Kim, S.O., Hughes, M.N. and Poole, R.K. (2000) Flavohemoglobin *hmp* affords inducible protection for *Escherichia coli* respiration, catalyzed by cytochromes *bo'* or *bd*, from nitric oxide. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 35868–35875.
- [58] Karplus, P.A., Daniels, M.J. and Herriott, J.R. (1991) Atomic structure of ferredoxin-NAD(P)<sup>+</sup>-reductase: prototype for a structurally novel flavoenzyme family. Science 251, 60–66.
- [59] Bowien, B. and Schlegel, H.G. (1981) Physiology and biochemistry of aerobic hydrogen-oxidizing bacteria. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 35, 405– 452.
- [60] Tyree, B. and Webster, D.A. (1979) Intermediates in the reaction of reduced cytochrome o (*Vitreoscilla*) with oxygen. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 176–179.
- [61] Webster, D.A. and Orii, Y. (1977) Oxygenated cytochrome o. An active intermediate observed in whole cells of *Vitreoscilla*. J. Biol. Chem. 252, 1834–1836.
- [62] Orii, Y., Ioannidis, N. and Poole, R.K. (1992) The oxygenated flavohaemoglobin from *Escherichia coli*: evidence from photodissociation and rapid-scan studies for two kinetic and spectral forms. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 187, 94–100.
- [63] Ioannidis, N., Cooper, C.E. and Poole, R.K. (1992) Spectroscopic studies on an oxygen-binding hemoglobin-like flavohaemoprotein from *Escherichia coli*. Biochem. J. 288, 649–655.
- [64] Giangiacomo, L., Mattu, M., Arcovito, A., Bellenchi, G., Bolognesi, M., Ascenzi, P. and Boffi, A. (2001) Monomer-dimer equilibrium and oxygen-binding properties of ferrous *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin. Biochemistry 40, 9311–9316.

- [65] Poole, R.K., Rogers, N.J., D'mello, R.A.M., Hughes, M.N. and Orii, Y. (1997) *Escherichia coli* flavohaemoglobin (Hmp) reduces cytochrome c and Fe(III)-hydroxamate K by electron transfer from NADH via FAD: Sensitivity of oxidoreductase activity to haembound dioxygen. Microbiology 143, 1557–1565.
- [66] Membrillo-Hernández, J., Ioannidis, N. and Poole, R.K. (1996) The flavohaemoglobin (HMP) of *Escherichia coli* generates superoxide in vitro and causes oxidative stress in vivo. FEBS Lett. 382, 141– 144.
- [67] Mills, C.E., Sedelnikova, S., Soballe, B., Hughes, M.N. and Poole, R.K. (2001) *Escherichia coli* flavohaemoglobin (Hmp) with equistoichiometric FAD and haem contents has a low affinity for dioxygen in the absence or presence of nitric oxide. Biochem. J. 353, 207–213.
- [68] Poole, R.K., Ioannidis, N. and Orii, Y. (1996) Reactions of the *Escherichia coli* flavohaemoglobin (Hmp) with NADH and near-micromolar oxygen: Oxygen affinity of NADH oxidase activity. Microbiology 142, 1141–1148.
- [69] Andrews, S.C., Shipley, D., Keen, J.N., Findlay, J.B.C., Harrison, P.M. and Guest, J.R. (1992) The hemoglobin-like protein (Hmp) of *Escherichia coli* has ferrisiderophore-reductase-activity and its C-terminal domain shares homology with ferredoxin NADP<sup>+</sup> reductases. FEBS Lett. 302, 247–252.
- [70] Eschenbrenner, M., Coves, J. and Fontecave, M. (1994) Ferric reductases in *Escherichia coli*: the contribution of the haemoglobin-like protein. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 198, 127–131.
- [71] Webster, D.A. (1975) The formation of hydrogen peroxide during the oxidation of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide by cytochrome *o* from *Vitreoscilla*. J. Biol. Chem. 250, 4955–4958.
- [72] Gardner, P.R., Costantino, G. and Salzman, A.L. (1998) Constitutive and adaptive detoxification of nitric oxide in *Escherichia coli* - Role of nitric-oxide dioxygenase in the protection of aconitase. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 26528–26533.
- [73] Hausladen, A., Gow, A.J. and Stamler, J.S. (1998) Nitrosative stress: Metabolic pathway involving the flavohemoglobin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 14100–14105.
- [74] Gardner, A.M., Martin, L.A., Gardner, P.R., Dou, Y. and Olson, J.S. (2000) Steady-state and transient kinetics of *Escherichia coli* nitric oxide dioxygenase (flavohemoglobin) – The B10 tyrosine hydroxyl is essential for dioxygen binding and catalysis. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 12581–12589.
- [75] Gardner, P.R., Gardner, A.M., Martin, L.A., Dou, Y., Li, T., Olson, J.S., Zhu, H. and Riggs, A.F. (2000) Nitric-oxide dioxygenase activity and function of flavohemoglobins. Sensitivity to nitric oxide and carbon monoxide inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 31581–31587.
- [76] Hausladen, A., Gow, A. and Stamler, J.S. (2001) Flavohemoglobin denitrosylase catalyzes the reaction of a nitroxyl equivalent with molecular oxygen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 10108–10112.
- [77] Kaur, R., Pathania, R., Sharma, V., Mande, S.C. and Dikshit, K.L. (2002) Chimeric *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin (VHb) carrying a flavoreductase domain relieves nitrosative stress in *Escherichia coli*: new insight into the functional role of VHb. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 152–160.
- [78] Kim, S.O., Orii, Y., Lloyd, D., Hughes, M.N. and Poole, R.K. (1999) Anoxic function for the *Escherichia coli* flavohaemoglobin (Hmp): reversible binding of nitric oxide and reduction to nitrous oxide. FEBS Lett. 445, 389–394.
- [79] Gardner, A.M., Helmick, R.A. and Gardner, P.R. (2002) Flavorubredoxin, an inducible catalyst for nitric oxide reduction and detoxification in *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 8172–8177.
- [80] Hutchings, M.I., Mandhana, N. and Spiro, S. (2002) The NorR protein of *Escherichia coli* activates expression of the flavorubredoxin gene *norV* in response to reactive nitrogen species. J. Bacteriol. 184, 4640–4643.
- [81] Gomes, C.M., Giuffre, A., Forte, E., Vicente, J.B., Saraiva, L.M., Brunori, M. and Teixeira, M. (2002) A novel type of nitric-oxide reductase, *Escherichia coli* flavorubredoxin. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 25273–25276.

- [82] Khosla, C. and Bailey, J.E. (1989) Characterization of the oxygendependent promoter of the *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin gene in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 171, 5990–6004.
- [83] Dikshit, K.L., Dikshit, R.P. and Webster, D.A. (1990) Study of Vitreoscilla globin (vgb) gene expression and promoter activity in E. coli through transcriptional fusion. Nucleic Acids Res. 18, 4149– 4155.
- [84] Magnolo, S.K., Leenutaphong, D.L., DeModena, J.A., Curtis, J.E., Bailey, J.E., Galazzo, J.L. and Hughes, D.E. (1991) Actinorhodin production by *Streptomyces coelicolor* and growth of *Streptomyces lividans* are improved by the expression of a bacterial hemoglobin. Bio-Technology 9, 473–476.
- [85] Wei, M.L., Webster, D.A. and Stark, B.C. (1998) Metabolic engineering of *Serratia marcescens* with the bacterial hemoglobin gene: Alterations in fermentation pathways. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 59, 640– 646.
- [86] Wei, M.L., Webster, D.A. and Stark, B.C. (1998) Genetic engineering of *Serratia marcescens* with bacterial hemoglobin gene: Effects on growth, oxygen utilization and cell size. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 57, 477–483.
- [87] Ramírez, M., Valderrama, B., Arrendondo-Peter, R., Sobéron, M., Mora, J. and Hernández, G. (1999) *Rhizobium etli* genetically engineered for the heterologous expression of *Vitreoscilla* sp. hemoglobin: Effect on free-living and symbiosis. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 12, 1008–1015.
- [88] Patel, S.M., Stark, B.C., Hwang, K.W., Dikshit, K.L. and Webster, D.A. (2000) Cloning and expression of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin gene in *Burkholderia* sp. strain DNT for enhancement of 2,4-dinitrotoluene degradation. Biotechnol. Prog. 16, 26–30.
- [89] Khosla, C. and Bailey, J.E. (1988) Heterologous expression of a bacterial haemoglobin improves the growth properties of recombinant *Escherichia coli*. Nature 331, 633–635.
- [90] Poole, R.K., Anjum, M.F., Membrillo-Hernández, J., Kim, S.O., Hughes, M.N. and Stewart, V. (1996) Nitric oxide, nitrite and Fnr regulation of *hmp* (flavohemoglobin) gene expression in *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 178, 5487–5492.
- [91] Khosla, C., Curtis, J.E., Bydalek, P., Swartz, J.R. and Bailey, J.E. (1990) Expression of recombinant proteins in *Escherichia coli* using an oxygen-responsive promoter. Bio-Technology 8, 554–558.
- [92] Tsai, P.S., Kallio, P.T. and Bailey, J.E. (1995) FNR, a global transcriptional regulator of *Escherichia coli*, activates the *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin (VHb) promoter and intracellular VHb expression increases cytochrome *d* promoter activity. Biotechnol. Prog. 11, 288–293.
- [93] Joshi, M. and Dikshit, K.L. (1994) Oxygen-dependent regulation of *Vitreoscilla* globin gene: evidence for positive regulation by FNR. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 202, 535–542.
- [94] Spiro, S. (1994) The FNR family of transcriptional regulators. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 66, 23–36.
- [95] Spiro, S., Gaston, K.L., Bell, A.I., Roberts, R.E., Busby, S.J. and Guest, J.R. (1990) Interconversion of the DNA-binding specificities of two related transcription regulators, CRP and FNR. Mol. Microbiol. 4, 1831–1838.
- [96] Khosla, C., Curtis, J.E., DeModena, J., Rinas, U. and Bailey, J.E. (1990) Expression of intracellular hemoglobin improves protein synthesis in oxygen-limited *Escherichia coli*. Bio-Technology 8, 849– 853.
- [97] Tsai, P.S., Nägeli, M. and Bailey, J.E. (1996) Intracellular expression of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin modifies microaerobic *Escherichia coli* metabolism through elevated concentration and specific activity of cytochrome o. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 49, 151–160.
- [98] Kallio, P.T., Kim, D.-J., Tsai, P.S. and Bailey, J.E. (1994) Intracellular expression of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin alters *Escherichia coli* energy metabolism under oxygen-limited conditions. Eur. J. Biochem. 219, 201–208.
- [99] Puustinen, A. and Wikström, M. (1991) The heme groups of cytochrome o from *Escherichia coli*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 6122– 6126.

- [100] Puustinen, A., Finel, M., Haltia, T., Gennis, R.B. and Wikström, M. (1991) Properties of the 2 terminal oxidases of *Escherichia coli*. Biochemistry 30, 3936–3942.
- [101] Park, K.W., Kim, K.J., Howard, A.J., Stark, B.C. and Webster, D.A. (2002) *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin binds to subunit I of cytochrome *bo* ubiquinol oxidases. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 33334–33337.
- [102] Chen, W., Hughes, D.E. and Bailey, J.E. (1994) Intracellular expression of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin alters the aerobic metabolism of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol. Prog. 10, 308–313.
- [103] Dikshit, R.P., Dikshit, K.L., Liu, Y.X. and Webster, D.A. (1992) The bacterial hemoglobin from *Vitreoscilla* can support the aerobic growth of *Escherichia coli* lacking terminal oxidases. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 293, 241–245.
- [104] Tsai, P.S., Rao, G. and Bailey, J.E. (1995) Improvement of *Escherichia coli* microaerobic oxygen-metabolism by *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin: new insights from NAD(P)H fluorescence and culture redox potential. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 47, 347–354.
- [105] Nilsson, M., Kallio, P.T., Bailey, J.E., Bülow, L. and Wahlund, K.G. (1999) Expression of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin in *Escherichia coli* enhances ribosome and tRNA levels: A flow field-flow fractionation study. Biotechnol. Prog. 15, 158–163.
- [106] Zalkin, H. and Nygaard, P. (1996) Biosynthesis of purine nucleotides. In: *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella typhimurium*. Cellular and Molecular Biology, Vol 1. (Neidhardt, F.C., Curtiss III, R., Ingraham, J.L., Lin, E.C.C., Low, K.B., Magasanik, B., Reznikoff, W.S., Riley, M., Schaechter, M. and Umbarger, H.E., Eds.), pp. 561–579. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- [107] Chen, R. and Bailey, J.E. (1994) Energetic effect of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin expression in *Escherichia coli* – an online <sup>31</sup>P NMR and saturation-transfer study. Biotechnol. Prog. 10, 360–364.
- [108] Ryll, T. and Wagner, R. (1991) Improved ion-pair high-performance liquid chromatographic method for the quantification of a wide variety of nucleotides and sugar-nucleotides in animal cells. J. Chromatogr. 570, 77–88.
- [109] Albe, K.R., Butler, M.H. and Wright, B.E. (1990) Cellular concentrations of enzymes and their substrates. J. Theor. Biol. 143, 163– 195.
- [110] Stevanin, T.M., Poole, R.K., Demoncheaux, E.A. and Read, R.C. (2002) Flavohemoglobin Hmp protects *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* from nitric oxide-related killing by human macrophages. Infect. Immun. 70, 4399–4405.
- [111] Membrillo-Hernández, J., Cook, G.M. and Poole, R.K. (1997) Roles of RpoS (sigma<sup>S</sup>), IHF and ppGpp in the expression of the *hmp* gene encoding the flavohemoglobin (Hmp) of *Escherichia coli* K-12. Mol. Gen. Genet. 254, 599–603.
- [112] Cruz-Ramos, H., Crack, J., Wu, G., Hughes, M.N., Scott, C., Thomson, A.J., Green, J. and Poole, R.K. (2002) NO-sensing by FNR: regulation of the *Escherichia coli* NO-detoxifying flavohaemoglobin, Hmp. EMBO J. 21, 3235–3244.
- [113] Membrillo-Hernández, J., Coopamah, M.D., Channa, A., Hughes, M.N. and Poole, R.K. (1998) A novel mechanism for upregulation of the *Escherichia coli* K-12 *hmp* (flavohaemoglobin) gene by the 'NO releaser', S-nitrosoglutathione: nitrosation of homocysteine and modulation of MetR binding to the *glyA-hmp* intergenic region. Mol. Microbiol. 29, 1101–1112.
- [114] De Groote, M.A., Testerman, T., Xu, Y., Stauffer, G.V. and Fang, F.C. (1996) Homocysteine antagonism of nitric oxide-related cytostasis in *Salmonella typhimurium*. Science 272, 414–416.
- [115] Membrillo-Hernández, J., Kim, S.O., Cook, G.M. and Poole, R.K. (1997) Paraquat regulation of *hmp* (flavohemoglobin) gene expression in *Escherichia coli* K-12 is SoxRS-independent but modulated by sigma<sup>S</sup>. J. Bacteriol. 179, 3164–3170.
- [116] Anjum, M.F., Ioannidis, N. and Poole, R.K. (1998) Response of the NAD(P)H-oxidising flavohaemoglobin (Hmp) to prolonged oxidative stress and implications for its physiological role in *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 166, 219–223.
- [117] Membrillo-Hernández, J., Coopamah, M.D., Anjum, M.F., Steva-

nin, T.M., Kelly, A., Hughes, M.N. and Poole, R.K. (1999) The flavohemoglobin of *Escherichia coli* confers resistance to a nitrosating agent, a 'nitric oxide releaser', and paraquat and is essential for transcriptional responses to oxidative stress. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 748–754.

- [118] Poole, R.K. and Hughes, M.N. (2000) New functions for the ancient globin family: bacterial responses to nitric oxide and nitrosative stress. Mol. Microbiol. 36, 775–783.
- [119] D'Autréaux, B., Touati, D., Bersch, B., Latour, J.M. and Michaud-Soret, I. (2002) Direct inhibition by nitric oxide of the transcriptional ferric-uptake regulation protein via nitrosylation of the iron. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99, 16619–16624.
- [120] Goretski, J., Zafiriou, O.C. and Hollocher, T.C. (1990) Steady-state nitric oxide concentrations during denitrification. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 11535–11538.
- [121] Clements, L.D., Streips, U.N. and Miller, B.S. (2002) Differential proteomic analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* nitrate respiration and fermentation in defined medium. Proteomics 2, 1724–1734.
- [122] Nakano, M.M., Zhu, Y., Lacelle, M., Zhang, X. and Hulett, F.M. (2000) Interaction of ResD with regulatory regions of anaerobically induced genes in *Bacillus subtilis*. Mol. Microbiol. 37, 1198–1207.
- [123] Nakano, M.M. (2002) Induction of ResDE-dependent gene expression in *Bacillus subtilis* in response to nitric oxide and nitrosative stress. J. Bacteriol. 184, 1783–1787.
- [124] Hu, Y. and Coates, A.R. (2001) Increased levels of sigJ mRNA in late stationary-phase cultures of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* detected by DNA array hybridisation. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 202, 59–65.
- [125] Pathania, R., Navani, N.K., Rajamohan, G. and Dikshit, K.L. (2002) Mycobacterium tuberculosis hemoglobin HbO associates with membranes and stimulates cellular respiration of recombinant Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 15293–15302.
- [126] Firoved, A.M. and Deretic, V. (2003) Microarray analysis of global gene expression in mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J. Bacteriol. 185, 1071–1081.
- [127] Bolwell, G.P. (1999) Role of active oxygen species and NO in plant defence responses. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 2, 287–294.
- [128] Gennis, R.B. and Stewart, V. (1996) Respiration. In: *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*. Cellular and Molecular Biology, Vol. 1 (Neidhardt, F.C., Curtiss III, R., Ingraham, J.L., Lin, E.C.C., Low, K.B., Magasanik, B., Reznikoff, W.S., Riley, M., Schaechter, M. and Umbarger, H.E., Eds.), pp. 217–261. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- [129] Rice, C.W. and Hempfling, W.P. (1978) Oxygen-limited continuous culture and respiratory energy conservation in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 134, 115–124.
- [130] Lin, E.C.C. (1996) Dissimilatory pathways for sugars, polyols and carboxylates. In: *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*. Cellular and Molecular Biology, Vol. 1 (Neidhardt, F.C., Curtiss III, R., Ingraham, J.L., Lin, E.C.C., Low, K.B., Magasanik, B., Reznikoff, W.S., Riley, M., Schaechter, M. and Umbarger, H.E., Eds.), pp. 307–342. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- [131] Stewart, V. (1988) Nitrate respiration in relation to facultative metabolism in enterobacteria. Microbiol. Rev. 52, 190–232.
- [132] Clark, D.P. (1989) The fermentation pathways of *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 63, 223–234.
- [133] Unden, G. and Bongaerts, J. (1997) Alternative respiratory pathways of *Escherichia coli*: energetics and transcriptional regulation in response to electron acceptors. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1320, 217– 234.
- [134] Konz, J.O., King, J. and Cooney, C.L. (1998) Effects of oxygen on recombinant protein expression. Biotechnol. Prog. 14, 393–409.
- [135] Bailey, J.E. (1991) Toward a science of metabolic engineering. Science 252, 1668–1675.
- [136] Brünker, P., Minas, W., Kallio, P.T. and Bailey, J.E. (1998) Genetic engineering of an industrial strain of *Saccharopolyspora erythraea* for stable expression of the *Vitreoscilla* haemoglobin gene (*vhb*). Microbiology 144, 2441–2448.

- [137] Minas, W., Brünker, P., Kallio, P.T. and Bailey, J.E. (1998) Improved erythromycin production in a genetically engineered industrial strain of *Saccharopolyspora erythraea*. Biotechnol. Prog. 14, 561–566.
- [138] Suen, W.C. and Spain, J.C. (1993) Cloning and characterization of *Pseudomonas* sp. strain DNT genes for 2,4-dinitrotoluene degradation. J. Bacteriol. 175, 1831–1837.
- [139] Nasr, M.A., Hwang, K.W., Akbas, M., Webster, D.A. and Stark, B.C. (2001) Effects of culture conditions on enhancement of 2,4dinitrotoluene degradation by *Burkholderia* engineered with the *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin gene. Biotechnol. Prog. 17, 359–361.
- [140] Doran, P.M. (2000) Foreign protein production in plant tissue cultures. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 11, 199–204.
- [141] Huang, S.Y. and Chou, C.J. (2000) Effect of gaseous composition on cell growth and secondary metabolite production in suspension culture of *Stizolobium hassjoo* cells. Bioprocess Eng. 23, 585–593.
- [142] Farrés, J. and Kallio, P.T. (2002) Improved growth in tobacco suspension cultures expressing *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin. Biotechnol. Prog. 18, 229–233.
- [143] Pendse, G.J. and Bailey, J.E. (1994) Effect of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin expression on growth and specific tissue plasminogen activator productivity in recombinant Chinese hamster ovary cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 44, 1367–1370.
- [144] Bailey, J.E., Sburlati, A., Hatzimanikatis, V., Lee, K., Renner, W.A. and Tsai, P.S. (1996) Inverse metabolic engineering: A strategy for directed genetic engineering of useful phenotypes. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 52, 109–121.
- [145] Andersson, C.I.J., Holmberg, N., Farrés, J., Bailey, J.E., Bülow, L. and Kallio, P.T. (2000) Error-prone PCR of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin (VHb) to support the growth of microaerobic *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 70, 446–455.
- [146] Frey, A.D., Fiaux, J., Szyperski, T., Wüthrich, K., Bailey, J.E. and Kallio, P.T. (2001) Dissection of central carbon metabolism of hemoglobin-expressing *Escherichia coli* by <sup>13</sup>C nuclear magnetic resonance flux distribution analysis in microaerobic bioprocesses. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 680–687.
- [147] Roos, V., Andersson, C.I.J., Arfvidsson, C., Wahlund, K.G. and Bülow, L. (2002) Expression of double *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin enhances growth and alters ribosome and tRNA levels in *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol. Prog. 18, 652–656.
- [148] Frey, A.D., Bailey, J.E. and Kallio, P.T. (2000) Expression of *Alcaligenes eutrophus* flavohemoprotein and engineered *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin-reductase fusion protein for improved hypoxic growth of *Escherichia coli*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 98–104.
- [149] Szyperski, T. (1995) Biosynthetically directed fractional <sup>13</sup>C-labeling of proteinogenic amino-acids. An efficient analytical tool to investigate intermediary metabolism. Eur. J. Biochem. 232, 433–448.
- [150] Fiaux, J., Andersson, C.I.J., Holmberg, N., Bülow, L., Kallio, P.T., Szyperski, T., Bailey, J.E. and Wüthrich, K. (1999) <sup>13</sup>C NMR flux ratio analysis of *Escherichia coli* central carbon metabolism in microaerobic bioprocesses. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 121, 1407–1408.
- [151] Wittenberg, J.B. and Wittenberg, B.A. (1990) Mechanisms of cytoplasmic hemoglobin and myoglobin function. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biophys. Chem. 19, 217–241.
- [152] Kallio, P.T., Tsai, P.S. and Bailey, J.E. (1996) Expression of Vitreoscilla hemoglobin is superior to horse heart myoglobin or yeast flavohemoglobin expression for enhancing Escherichia coli growth in a microaerobic bioreactor. Biotechnol. Prog. 12, 751–757.
- [153] Gort, A.S. and Imlay, J.A. (1998) Balance between endogenous superoxide stress and antioxidant defenses. J. Bacteriol. 180, 1402– 1410.
- [154] Storz, G. and Zheng, M. (2000) Oxidative stress. In: Bacterial Stress Response (Storz, G. and Hengge-Aronis, R., Eds.), pp. 47–59. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- [155] Bogdan, C., Rollinghoff, M. and Diefenbach, A. (2000) Reactive oxygen and reactive nitrogen intermediates in innate and specific immunity. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 12, 64–76.

- [156] Nathan, C. and Shiloh, M.U. (2000) Reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates in the relationship between mammalian hosts and microbial pathogens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97, 8841–8848.
- [157] Ji, X.B. and Hollocher, T.C. (1988) Reduction of nitrite to nitric oxide by enteric bacteria. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 157, 106–108.
- [158] Labesse, G., Craescu, C.T., Mispelter, J., Chottard, G., Marden, M.C., Pin, S., Forest, E., Mornon, J.P. and Boccara, M. (1998) Engineering, expression and biochemical characterization of the hemoglobin domain of a *Erwinia chrysanthemi* flavohemoprotein. Eur. J. Biochem. 253, 751–759.
- [159] DeModena, J.A., Gutiérrez, S., Velasco, J., Fernández, F.J., Fachini, R.A., Galazzo, J.L., Hughes, D.E. and Martín, J.F. (1993) The production of cephalosporin C by *Acremonium chrysogenum* is improved by the intracellular expression of a bacterial hemoglobin. Bio-Technology 11, 926–929.
- [160] Kallio, P.T. and Bailey, J.E. (1996) Intracellular expression of Vitreoscilla hemoglobin (VHb) enhances total protein secretion and improves the production of α-amylase and neutral protease in Bacillus subtilis. Biotechnol. Prog. 12, 31–39.
- [161] Sander, F.C., Fachini, R.A., Hughes, D.E., Galazzo, J.L. and Bailey, J.E. (1994) Expression of *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* increases final concentration and yield of lysine. Proceedings of the 6th European Congress on Biotechnology, 1993

(Alberghina, L., Frontali, L. and Sensi, P., Eds.), pp. 607-610. Elsevier.

- [162] Khosravi, M., Webster, D.A. and Stark, B.C. (1990) Presence of the bacterial hemoglobin gene improves alpha-amylase production of a recombinant *Escherichia coli* strain. Plasmid 24, 190–194.
- [163] Chung, Y.J., Kim, K.S., Jeon, E.S., Park, K.I. and Park, C.U. (1998) Effects of the *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin gene on the expression of the ferritin gene in *Escherichia coli*. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 31, 503–507.
- [164] Holmberg, N., Lilius, G., Bailey, J.E. and Bülow, L. (1997) Transgenic tobacco expressing *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin exhibits enhanced growth and altered metabolite production. Nat. Biotechnol. 15, 244– 247.
- [165] Geckil, H., Stark, B.C. and Webster, D.A. (2001) Cell growth and oxygen uptake of *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* are differently affected by the genetically engineered *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin gene. J. Biotechnol. 85, 57–66.
- [166] Liu, S.C., Webster, D.A., Wei, M.L. and Stark, B.C. (1996) Genetic engineering to contain the *Vitreoscilla* hemoglobin gene enhances degradation of benzoic acid by *Xanthomonas maltophilia*. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 49, 101–105.
- [167] Gardner, P.R., Gardner, A.M., Martin, L.A. and Salzman, A.L. (1998) Nitric oxide dioxygenase: An enzymic function for flavohemoglobin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 10378–10383.